Provided for non-commercial research and educational use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.

This article was originally published in the *Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter* published by Elsevier, and the attached copy is provided by Elsevier for the author's benefit and for the benefit of the author's institution, for non-commercial research and educational use including without limitation use in instruction at your institution, sending it to specific colleagues who you know, and providing a copy to your institution's administrator.



All other uses, reproduction and distribution, including without limitation commercial reprints, selling or licensing copies or access, or posting on open internet sites, your personal or institution's website or repository, are prohibited. For exceptions, permission may be sought for such use through Elsevier's permissions site at:

http://www.elsevier.com/locate/permissionusematerial

David J. Burdige and Tomoko Komada (2015) Sediment Pore Waters. In: Dennis A. Hansell and Craig A. Carlson (eds.) Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter, pp. 535-577. Burlington: Academic Press.

© 2015 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Author's personal copy

СНАРТЕН

12

Sediment Pore Waters

David J. Burdige*, Tomoko Komada[†]

*Department of Ocean, Earth and Atmospheric Sciences, Old Dominion University, Noroflk, Virginia,

USA

[†]Romberg Tiburon Center, San Francisco State University, Tiburon, California, USA

CONTENTS

Ι	Preface	536
II	Introduction	536
	A DOC and DON in Sediment Pore Waters:	
	General Observations	539
III	Composition and Dynamics of Bulk	
	Pore Water DOM	542
	A Molecular Weight Distribution	542
	B Fluorescence Spectroscopy	543
	C Carbon Isotope Ratios	544
	D Fourier Transform Ion Cyclotron Resonanc	е
	Mass Spectrometry (FTICR-MS)	545
	E Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)	546
	F DON and the C/N Ratio of Pore	
	Water DOM	546
IV	Composition and Dynamics of	
	DOM at the Compound and	
	Compound-Class Levels	550
	A Short Chain Organic Acids (SCOAs)	551
	B Carbohydrates	552
	C Amino Acids	554

V	Modeling DOC Cycling in Marine							
	Sediments	555						
	A Production of Recalcitrant DOC: General							
	Observations	555						
	B The Multi-G + DOC Model	556						
VI	Controls on DOC Concentrations in							
	Sediments	559						
	A Controls on DOC Concentrations							
	in Surficial Sediments	559						
	B Controls on DOC Concentrations							
	in Deeply Buried Sediments	561						
	C Possible Redox Controls on Pore Water							
	DOC Concentrations	564						
	D Interactions Between DOM and							
	Sediment Particles and the Possible Role of							
	DOM in Sediment Carbon Preservation	564						
VII	The Role of Benthic DOM Fluxes in							
	the Ocean Carbon and Nitrogen Cycles	565						
	A Benthic DOC Fluxes	565						
	B Benthic DON Fluxes	567						

Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-405940-5.00012-1

C The Impact of Benthic DOM Fluxes		VIII Concluding Thoughts	569
on the Composition and Reactivity of Oceanic DOM	568	Acknowledgments	569
		References	569

I PREFACE

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) in marine sediment pore waters plays an important role in sediment carbon and nitrogen remineralization and may also be involved in sediment carbon preservation. It also plays a role in pore water metal complexation, affecting dissolved metal and metal-complexing ligand fluxes from sediments (e.g., Shank et al., 2004).

Since the publication of this chapter in the first edition of this book (Burdige, 2002), a number of key advances have been made in this field. Despite these advances, the following introductory questions from the original chapter still represent an appropriate basis for starting the discussion here:

- 1. What do we know about the composition and reactivity of pore water DOM, with particular reference to its role in sediment organic matter remineralization?
- **2.** What do we know about the controls on pore water DOM concentrations?
- **3.** What is the role of benthic DOM fluxes in the global ocean cycles of carbon and nitrogen?
- 4. What is the role of pore water DOM in sediment carbon preservation?

In an effort to be comprehensive, key information from the earlier version of this chapter is presented here along with newer results. However, in a number of places, reference is simply made to this earlier chapter for details that, for brevity and conciseness, we felt could be omitted.

II INTRODUCTION

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) in sediment pore waters is a heterogeneous collection of organic compounds, ranging in size from relatively large macromolecules (e.g., dissolved proteins or humic substances) to smaller molecules such as individual amino acids or short-chain organic acids. As is also the case in the water column (e.g., Benner, 2002; see Chapter 2), much of the pore water DOM remains uncharacterized at the compound-class or molecular-level (see Section IV and Burdige, 2001, 2002 for details).

In many sediments, pore water concentrations of DOM—both dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON)-are elevated by up to an order of magnitude over bottom water values (Figure 12.1). This implies that there is net production of DOM in sediments as a result of organic matter degradation processes. Based on diffusive arguments alone, sediments are a potential source of both DOC and DON to the overlying waters (see Section VII). Much of the total pore water DOC and DON is of relatively low-molecular weight (LMW; see Section III.A) and appears to be recalcitrant, at least in a bulk sense. Such observations are consistent with the results of water column studies showing that high-molecular weight (HMW) DOC represents a more reactive and less diagenetically altered fraction of the total DOC than the more abundant, and presumably more recalcitrant, LMW-DOC (e.g., Amon and Benner, 1994; Benner, 2002; Santschi et al., 1995).

Several lines of evidence suggest that the DOM accumulating in sediments is indeed recalcitrant. The first is simply that relatively high

II INTRODUCTION



FIGURE 12.1 Pore water DOC concentration profiles in anoxic marine sediments. Symbols on the upper *x*-axes represent concentrations in bottom water samples obtained by hydrocasts. (Left) Cores collected at site M3 in the mesohaline Chesapeake Bay (July 1995, open square; October 1995, open circle); data from Burdige and Zheng (1998). (Right) Replicate cores collected in Santa Monica Basin in March 1994 (Burdige, 2002). Also see Jahnke (1990) and Komada et al. (2013) for general information on the geochemistry of these sediments. See Figure 12.9 for additional DOC profiles in anoxic sediments.

concentrations of this material can be found in sediments and that DOM accumulates with depth in most sediments as rates of particulate organic matter (POM) remineralization and the reactivity of sediment POM both decrease (e.g., Burdige, 1991a; Middelburg, 1989; Westrich and Berner, 1984). Such trends are seen across a wide range of time and space (sediment depth) scales, ranging from ~1m or less in coastal and nearshore sediments to 100s of meters or more in deeply buried marine sediments (see Burdige, 2002, and discussions in Section VI for details). If the majority of pore water DOM had a high degree of reactivity, then one might expect its concentration to eventually decrease with depth due to microbial remineralization of the material. Second, in many coastal marine sediments, humic-like fluorescence of pore water DOM is strongly correlated with total DOC concentrations, suggesting that much of the pore water DOM may be considered dissolved humic substances (see Section III.B). Third, a number of incubation experiments support the suggestion that what appears to be recalcitrant DOC can be produced on time scales comparable to those over which POC remineralization and inorganic nutrient regeneration occur (Brüchert and Arnosti, 2003; Chipman et al., 2010; Hee et al., 2001; Komada et al., 2012; Robador et al., 2010; Weston and Joye, 2005).

As a starting point for our discussions, Figure 12.2 shows a conceptual model of DOM cycling in sediments based on the classic anaerobic food chain model (e.g., Fenchel et al., 1998; Megonigal et al., 2003) and the pore water size/reactivity (PWSR) model of Burdige and Gardner (1998). The model in this figure also incorporates DOM production pathway(s) inferred from more recent work (Komada et al., 2012; Robador et al., 2010; Weston and Joye, 2005). In anaerobic settings, the majority of these processes are mediated by bacteria or archaea, with many catalyzed by microbial exoenzymes that must break down organic molecules to sufficiently small sizes to pass into microbial cells for further degradation (e.g., Arnosti, 2004).

In the model in Figure 12.2, we think of the degradation of sediment POM to inorganic end products as occurring by a series of hydrolytic (or oxidative), fermentative, and eventually respiratory processes that produce and consume pore water DOM intermediates with increasingly smaller molecular weights. Although this process leads to a continuum of DOM compounds (in terms of molecular weights and reactivities), the model assumes that there is an initial class of HMW-DOM (box "A" in Figure 12.2) containing biological polymers such as dissolved proteins and polysaccharides resulting from the initial hydrolysis or oxidative cleavage (depolymerization) of sediment POM. Most HMW-DOM is further hydrolyzed and fermented, producing and consuming labile DOM compounds of decreasingly smaller molecular weights (box "B" in Figure 12.2). Eventually, this results in the production of monomeric LMW-DOM compounds

12. SEDIMENT PORE WATERS



FIGURE 12.2 A conceptual model for DOM cycling in sediments. The processes illustrated here (including pathways (1)-(4)) are discussed in more detail in Section II. The terms "fast" and "slow" are used in a relative sense to imply that the turnover of either labile DOM (box "B") or mLMW-DOM (box "D") occurs much more rapidly than that of recalcitrant DOM (box "C"). This figure is based on information from several sources (e.g., Burdige and Gardner, 1998; Fenchel et al., 1998; Megonigal et al., 2003).

such as acetate, other small organic acids, and individual amino acids (mLMW-DOM; box "D" in Figure 12.2), which are then utilized in terminal respiratory processes such as iron reduction, sulfate reduction, or methanogenesis. A recent food web model for aerobic deep-sea sediments (Rowe and Deming, 2011) also supports the basic aspects of the model in Figure 12.2, although this study notes that the initial breakdown of POM in these sediments occurs by microbial exoenzymes as well as by metazoan feeding (which may in part be mediated by microbes living in the digestive tracts of these higher organisms). In addition, viral lysis of living bacterial cells may be important in adding DOM compounds to these sediment pore waters (Rowe and Deming, 2011).

While boxes "A" and "B" in Figure 12.2 represent labile compounds that generally turn over rapidly, not all carbon flow follows the vertical path along the left side of this figure. Some of the carbon end products of reactions along this pathway may actually be DOM compounds of lower reactivity that appear recalcitrant on the overall time scales of remineralization or the production of inorganic end products (i.e., this DOM falls into box "C" and following pathways (1), (2), or (3) in Figure 12.2; also see discussion in Section V.A). More recent sediment incubation studies point to the importance of direct production of inherently recalcitrant DOM through processes that may be similar to those discussed here (Komada et al., 2012, 2013; Robador et al., 2010; Weston and Joye, 2005).

II INTRODUCTION

For example, consider the following hypothetical fermentation reaction (modified after Yao and Conrad, 2000),

$$DOM_1 + aH_2O \rightarrow DOM_2 + DOM_3 + bCH_3COOH + cH_2 + dCO_2,$$
(12.1)

where *a*, *b*, *c*, and *d* are arbitrary coefficients that determine the relative production of acetic acid, H_2 , and CO_2 in this process based on the chemical formulae of the three DOM molecules. Here both DOM_2 and DOM_3 have lower molecular weights than DOM_1 . If DOM_2 is a labile molecule then this part of the carbon flow in this reaction will follow the vertical path along the left side of Figure 12.2 while if DOM_3 is recalcitrant, then this part of the carbon flow will go into box "C."

In the original PWSR model (Burdige, 2002; Burdige and Gardner, 1998), this recalcitrant DOM was referred to as polymeric LMW-DOM (pLMW-DOM), and in addition to production as discussed above, it was suggested that it might be produced through internal transformations of more reactive precursors (pathway (4) in Figure 12.2). Such processes include the possibility of forming recalcitrant DOM from mLMW-DOM compounds through geopolymerization processes such as the melanoidin or "browning" reaction (an abiotic sugar amino acid condensation reaction; Hedges, 1988) and complexation reactions (Christensen and Blackburn, 1982; Finke et al., 2007; Michelson et al., 1989).

Other recently proposed humification models suggest a slightly different pathway by which recalcitrant or reactive LMW-DOM compounds may serve as precursors for the formation of recalcitrant humic substances (Piccolo, 2001; Sutton and Sposito, 2005). Here, it is suggested that humic substances consist of a supramolecular cluster of relatively LMW-DOM compounds linked together by hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions, as opposed to macromolecules in which covalent bonds formed by geopolymerization-type reactions link LMW-DOM reactants. In the context of the model in Figure 12.2, pathways (1)-(3) could contribute to the formation of recalcitrant dissolved humic substances. However, if such processes do occur on early diagenetic time scales in sediment pore waters, their products apparently still have relatively low molecular weights (Burdige and Gardner, 1998).

In the first edition of this chapter (Burdige, 2002), a reactive-transport (advection-diffusionreaction) model based on the original PWSR model was presented for both strictly anoxic sediments (the ANS model) and mixed redox (bioturbated and/or bioirrigated) sediments (the BBS model). Carbon flow in the model equations is illustrated in Figure 12.3A while one set of model results, using the ANS model, is shown in Figure 12.3b. A key finding of this modeling effort was that pore water gradients of HMW-DOC and pLMW-DOC near the sediment surface were similar in magnitude, despite the fact that model-derived HMW-DOC concentrations were significantly lower than those of pLMW-DOC throughout most of the sediment column. As a result, in model calculations for both anoxic and mixed redox sediments, benthic fluxes of HMW-DOM were ~50-80% of the total benthic DOC flux (see Burdige, 2002 for details). Thus, in both types of sediments, model results suggest that benthic fluxes of both recalcitrant and reactive DOM can be similar in magnitude. The significance of this result will be discussed in later sections of this chapter.

A DOC and DON in Sediment Pore Waters: General Observations

Pore water DOC and DON profiles have been published from a wide range of surficial marine sediments, in environments ranging from the deep-sea to shallow water estuaries, salt marshes, and seagrass environments (for reviews of the earlier literature, see Burdige, 2002; Krom and Westrich, 1981; more recent results include Alkhatib et al., 2013; Chipman et al., 2012;

12. SEDIMENT PORE WATERS



FIGURE 12.3 (a) A schematic representation of DOM remineralization based on the original PWSR model. In this model, production of HMW-DOM from sediment POM is given by Equation (12.2) in the text (see Section VI.A), while the remineralization of either HMW-DOM or pLMW-DOM is assumed to be a first-order process. The parameter *a* represents the fraction of HMW-DOM remineralization that occurs through the lower pathway; in the context of the model illustrated in Figure 12.2, this represents material that is remineralized through the recalcitrant DOM pool on the right side of the figure. The remaining HMW-DOM is then remineralized along the far left side of the figure. Since mLMW-DOM compounds are assumed to be a small fraction of the total DOM pool that are remineralized rapidly to inorganic end products (see Section IV), they are not explicitly modeled here (see Burdige, 2002, for details). This model also does not directly examine production of inorganic end products (i.e., DIC). (b) Model results for strictly anoxic sediments obtained using a reactive-transport model based on the carbon flow illustrated in part A. This model (the ANS model) is described in detail in Burdige (2002), where the specific parameters are also listed. Note that in spite of the fact that throughout most of the sediment column model-derived concentrations of more reactive HMW-DOC are significantly lower than those of more recalcitrant pLMW-DOC (which also makes up the bulk of the pore water DOC pool), the pore water gradients near the sediment surface of these two types of DOC are quite similar in magnitude.

Hall et al., 2007; Heuer et al., 2009; Komada et al., 2004; Lahajnar et al., 2005; Papadimitriou et al., 2002; Pohlman et al., 2010; Ståhl et al., 2004). Profile depths range from 10s of centimeters to several hundred meters.

In early attempts to describe some of the general controls on pore water DOC depth profiles (Krom and Sholkovitz, 1977; Starikova, 1970), it was suggested that these profiles fall into two general categories. In anoxic sediments where benthic macrofaunal processes (bioturbation and/or bioirrigation) are insignificant, pore water DOC (and DON) concentrations generally increase with depth, often approaching "asymptotic"

II INTRODUCTION



FIGURE 12.4 Pore water DON concentrations (left) and the C/N ratios of pore water DOM (=[DOC]/[DON] and defined here as C/N_{pDOM}) (right) versus depth in contrasting marine sediments. Symbols on the upper x-axes represent values in bottom water samples obtained by hydrocasts. (First row) Cores collected at site S3 in the southern Chesapeake Bay (October 1996, open circle; August 1997, open square); data

concentrations (Figures 12.1 and 12.4). In contrast, in what were then termed "oxic" or "oxidizing" sediments, DOC and DON concentrations are elevated above bottom water values, but are also much more constant with depth in the upper portions of the sediments (Figures 12.4 and 12.5). While some of these sediments may indeed be oxic, it may be more appropriate to recognize that such sediments are often bioturbated and/ or bioirrigated and have mixed (or oscillating) redox conditions (sensu Aller, 1994). The threedimensional, heterogeneous geometry of such sediments leads to a situation in which organic matter remineralization can be thought of as oscillating between oxic and sub-oxic/anoxic processes (also see discussions in Burdige, 2006b).

We also note that among the published DOC and DON depth profiles, one will find some profiles that do not appear to be consistent with the discussions presented here. Our incomplete understanding of DOM cycling in sediments is likely a part of the reason for these differences. At the same time though, several studies have discussed potential sampling artifacts that can affect pore water DOM depth profiles, suggesting another possible explanation for these differences. In particular, in sediments containing abundant benthic macrofaunal populations, pore water collection via sediment centrifugation can lead to elevated DOC concentrations (and potentially elevated

FIGURE 12.4, CONT'D from Burdige and Zheng (1998) and Burdige (2001). (Second row) Cores collected at site M3 in the mesohaline Chesapeake Bay (July 1995, open circle; October 1995, open square); data from Burdige and Zheng (1998). (Third row) Replicate cores collected in San Clemente Basin (March 1994) (Burdige, 2002). (Fourth row) Replicate cores collected at the Patton Escarpment (March 1994) (Burdige, 2002). See Burdige et al. (1999) and McManus et al. (1997) for details on the geochemistry of the San Clemente Basin and Patton Escarpment sediments (also see Table 12.1). Note that DOC data from these Chesapeake Bay site M3 cores are shown in Figure 12.1, and those from the site S3 cores are shown in Figure 12.5.



FIGURE 12.5 Pore water DOC profiles in bioturbated and/or bioirrigated (i.e., mixed redox) marine sediments. Symbols on the upper *x*-axes represent concentrations in bottom water samples obtained by hydrocasts. (Left) Cores collected at site S3 in the southern Chespapeake Bay (October 1996, open circle; August 1997, open square); data from Burdige and Zheng (1998) and Burdige (2001). (Center) Replicate cores collected at a site (95-m water depth) in Monterey Bay (Burdige, 2002). See Berelson et al. (2003) for details on the geochemistry of these sediments. (Right) A core collected at station N on the California continental rise (4100-m water depth) at the base of the Monterey deep sea fan (DOC data from Bauer et al., 1995). Also see Cai et al. (1995) for details on the geochemistry of the sediments at this site.

concentrations of individual components of the total DOC pool) as compared to concentrations in pore waters collected by more "gentle" techniques such as with sediment sippers (Alperin et al., 1999; Burdige and Gardner, 1998; Burdige and Martens, 1990; Holcombe et al., 2001; Jørgensen et al., 1981; Martin and McCorkle, 1994). These differences may be due to animal rupture or simple DOM release by benthic organisms during core processing. In deep-sea sediments, distinct maxima in DOC, DON, and dissolved carbohydrates just below the sediment-water interface also appear to be artifacts related to lysis of sediment bacteria due to decompression and/or warming during sediment core collection and recovery (Brunnegård et al., 2004; Hall et al., 2007).

One set of environments where DOM profiles may not follow many of the depth trends and general behaviors discussed here are highly permeable sandy coastal and shelf sediments (e.g., Boudreau et al., 2001; Chipman et al., 2012). These sediments, often described as behaving like a sand filter in a sewage treatment or water purification plant, may act as a DOC sink because of the complex interplay between microbial activity and advective flow through the sediments (see Chipman et al., 2010, and references therein). However, results from Avery et al. (2012) showed that sands from a high-energy beach act as a DOC source, which is more typical of most marine sediments. While the overall significance of net DOC remineralization by permeable sediments is currently unclear (e.g., source vs. sink to the water column), the process could be of large-scale importance because such highly permeable sands represent a major fraction of the continental shelf (Emery, 1968) and because continental shelf sediments are, in general, important sites of organic carbon preservation and remineralization (Burdige, 2007; Hedges and Keil, 1995).

III COMPOSITION AND DYNAMICS OF BULK PORE WATER DOM

A Molecular Weight Distribution

Using ultrafiltration techniques, Burdige and Gardner (1998) and Burdige and Zheng (1998)

III COMPOSITION AND DYNAMICS OF BULK PORE WATER DOM

showed that the vast majority of the DOC and DON in Chesapeake Bay (estuarine) and Mid-Atlantic Bight (continental margin) sediment pore waters has molecular weights less than ~3kDa (~80-90% of total DOM in estuarine sediments and ~60-70% of total DOM in continental margin sediments). Studies of DOM from other nearshore marine and freshwater sediments using ultrafiltration and size exclusion chromatography also generally support these conclusions (Chin and Gschwend, 1991; Chin et al., 1994, 1998; Nissenbaum et al., 1972; Ziegelgruber et al., 2013).

In contrast, earlier studies suggested that HMW-DOM (rather than LMW-DOM) accumulates with depth in sediment pore waters (Krom and Sholkovitz, 1977; Orem et al., 1986). However, these studies used filters with smaller nominal molecular weight cut-offs (0.5 and 1 kDa respectively) than those used in the ultrafiltration studies cited above, making a direct comparison of the results difficult. Marine water column studies generally show that the majority of oceanic DOC passes through a membrane with a nominal 1-kDa molecular weight cut-off (Benner, 2002), with LMW-DOC representing 60-75% of the DOC in the surface ocean and 75-80% of the DOC in the deep ocean. Given the bulk radiocarbon age and other chemical characteristics of marine DOM (e.g., Hansell et al., 2009), this provides additional evidence for the recalcitrant nature of LMW marine DOM in general.

B Fluorescence Spectroscopy

Fluorescence spectroscopy has been applied to pore water DOM in a variety of environments including estuarine and marine sediments (Benamou et al., 1994; Burdige et al., 2004; Chen and Bada, 1989; Chen and Bada, 1994; Chen et al., 1993; Coble, 1996; Komada et al., 2004; Komada et al., 2002; Seretti et al., 1997; Sierra et al., 2001; Skoog et al., 1996), intertidal sand flats and subterranean estuaries (Kim et al., 2012; Lübben et al., 2009), mangrove and salt marsh sediments (Marchand et al., 2006; Otero et al., 2007), and deep-sea coral mounds (Larmagnat and Neuweiler, 2011). These studies examined properties of fluorescent DOM (FDOM) through the determination of fluorescence intensity at fixed excitation and emission wavelengths, emission spectra at a limited number of excitation wavelengths, synchronous scan spectra, or full three-dimensional excitation-emission matrix (EEM) spectra.

Regardless of the technique used, pore water FDOM invariably shows broad fluorescence in the spectral region thought to represent fluorescence of humic-like substances. Individual humic-like peaks have also been observed in EEM spectra of pore waters, and possible relationships between these specific humic-like peaks are discussed in Boehme and Coble (2000) and Burdige et al. (2004). Strong fluorescence consistent with emission bands of the aromatic proteins tyrosine and tryptophan is also evident in EEM and synchronous scan spectra of sediment pore waters (see references at the end of this section). The specific nomenclature and characteristic excitation and emission wavelengths of humic-like and protein-like fluorescence peaks seen in EEM spectra are discussed in Coble (1996, 2007), Burdige et al. (2004), and Chapter 10.

Fluorescence intensity of sediment pore waters is in many cases markedly higher than that of the overlying water column and typically increases with sediment depth (Chen and Bada, 1994; Chen et al., 1993; Komada et al., 2004; Lübben et al., 2009; Marchand et al., 2006; Sierra et al., 2001). This increase is due in part to the higher concentration of DOC (and hence FDOM) in sediments relative to bottom water. However, results from organic-rich, anoxic sediments also show considerably higher DOC-normalized fluorescence intensities in pore waters relative to the overlying bottom water (Burdige et al., 2004; Chen et al., 1993), indicating that pore water FDOM fluoresces more intensely than its water column counterpart, at least for these types of sediments. Combined with the fact that

marine sediments are net sources of DOC to the water column (Section VII), sediments are also net sources of FDOM to the water column (Boss et al., 2001; Burdige et al., 2004; Chen et al., 1993; Lübben et al., 2009; Skoog et al., 1996).

A positive correlation between humic-like fluorescence intensity and DOC appears to be the norm in pore waters (e.g., Chen et al., 1993; Seretti et al., 1997; Sierra et al., 2001; Skoog et al., 1996). This is in contrast to water column FDOM, where this relationship can be of an inverse nature depending on the area of study (Coble, 2007). The intercept of the FDOM-DOC regression line further suggests that the overwhelming majority of pore water DOC is fluorescent (Burdige et al., 2004; Chen et al., 1993; Komada et al., 2004). These observations again support the hypothesis that humic-like fluorescence arises from molecularly complex (uncharacterized), poorly reactive DOC that comprises the bulk of the pore water DOC pool (Section II).

There are several lines of evidence supporting a direct link between FDOM and the molecularly uncharacterized, poorly reactive component of bulk DOC. First, slopes of humiclike fluorescence versus DOC concentration have been found to vary with redox potential, with lower slopes observed under more oxidizing (or mixed redox) conditions, both across a redox gradient within a given core (Komada et al., 2004) and across different sedimentary settings (Burdige et al., 2004). In a laboratory incubation experiment using coastal sediments, Skoog et al. (1996) also observed higher benthic FDOM fluxes under anoxic versus oxic conditions. As is discussed in Section VI.C, greater exposure to stronger oxidants such as O₂ appears to result in greater loss of more recalcitrant organic matter (e.g., Blair and Aller, 2012; Burdige, 2007; Zonneveld et al., 2010).

At present, it is not possible to link humic-like fluorescence to specific compounds or fluorophores because the molecular basis for natural DOM fluorescence is unclear (Boehme and Coble, 2000; Del Vecchio and Blough, 2004). Nonetheless, the presence of specific peaks in EEM spectra should hold important clues regarding the composition of FDOM (e.g., Burdige et al., 2004; Coble, 2007; Komada et al., 2002; also see Chapter 10).

Pore water EEM spectra also contain peaks that coincide with those observed in spectra of the aromatic amino acids tryptophan and tyrosine (Burdige et al., 2004; Coble, 1996; Kim et al., 2012; Komada et al., 2002). These proteinlike peaks have been associated with high biological activity in the water column (Coble, 2007) and with degradation of fresh biomass (Parlanti et al., 2000). Some studies have observed these peaks to be most pronounced near the sediment-water interface (e.g., Coble, 1996; Seretti et al., 1997), although Burdige et al. (2004) observed protein-like fluorescence to co-vary with bulk DOC, and proposed that protein-like fluorescence is associated with both labile DON that escapes the sediments as a benthic flux and DON that is part of the recalcitrant bulk DOM that accumulates in the pore waters (see Section III.F).

C Carbon Isotope Ratios

Abundances of natural ¹³C and ¹⁴C provide insight into the composition and dynamics of pore water DOC cycling that complement molecular and other compositional studies (e.g., McNichol and Aluwihare, 2007; Raymond and Bauer, 2001b). To the best of the authors' knowledge, only a handful of Δ^{14} C and δ^{13} C values for marine pore water DOC ($\Delta^{14}C_{DOC}$ and $\delta^{13}C_{DOC'}$ respectively) have been published (Bauer et al., 1995; Heuer et al., 2009; Ijiri et al., 2012; Komada et al., 2013; Valentine et al., 2005). The scarcity of data may be due, in part, to the analytical challenges associated with determining natural C isotope ratios in marine DOC, especially Δ^{14} C (Bauer, 2002; Johnson and Komada, 2011; also see Chapter 6).

Pore water $\Delta^{14}C_{DOC}$ profiles have been reported for two sites in the northeastern Pacific

III COMPOSITION AND DYNAMICS OF BULK PORE WATER DOM

Ocean: station N on the continental rise at the base of the Monterey deep-sea fan (Bauer et al., 1995) and Santa Monica Basin (SMB) in the California Borderland (Bauer et al., 1995; Komada et al., 2013). At both sites, $\Delta^{14}C_{DOC}$ values are invariably higher than the Δ^{14} C value of the overlying bottom water DOC by >100‰ (e.g., see Section V.B), and pore water $\delta^{13}C_{DOC}$ values generally fall between -24% and -20%. These results clearly indicate that DOC flux out of these sediments is dominated by material that is much younger than the DOC found in the deep ocean and that this material appears to be of marine origin. However, as discussed in Section VII.C, these observations belie the more complex role of sediments as a possible source of ¹⁴C-depleted (and recalcitrant) DOC to the oceans.

Strongly ¹⁴C-depleted DOC has been reported for waters associated with hydrothermal systems and methane seeps. McCarthy et al. (2011) determined Δ^{14} C and δ^{13} C signatures of DOC and DIC in ridge-flank and on-axis hydrothermal fluids from the Juan de Fuca Ridge, concluding that DOC in these fluids is synthesized from ¹⁴C-depleted DIC by chemosynthetic bacteria. They further suggested that ridge-flank systems might be sources of new, yet ¹⁴C-depleted, DOC to the deep ocean. Pohlman et al. (2010) observed that pore water DOC in northern Cascadia margin seep sediments was strongly depleted in both ¹⁴C and ¹³C, concluding that a significant amount of this DOC is derived from fossil methane.

 $δ^{13}$ C values of pore water DOC have been used to gain insight into carbon cycling and metabolic pathways in methane-bearing environments. Heuer et al. (2009) reported $δ^{13}$ C values of acetate, lactate, and bulk DOC in the upper 190 m of sediments in the northern Cascadia Margin. $δ^{13}$ C signatures of DOC and lactate ranged from ~-20‰ to -24‰ and were similar to, or slightly higher than, the $δ^{13}$ C value of bulk sedimentary POC, suggesting little to no 13 C-fractionation during fermentation. In contrast, $δ^{13}$ C signatures of acetate varied widely with depth, which was attributed to the interplay among pathways, and the associated isotope fractionation, of acetate production (fermentation, acetogenesis) and consumption (sulfate reduction, acetoclastic methanogenesis). Ijiri et al. (2012) drew similar conclusions for the uppermost 14m of sediments of the Bering Sea shelf break.

Valentine et al. (2005) reported δ^{13} C values for pore water DOC in the uppermost 25 cm of sediments of Hydrate Ridge, a site of intense methane seepage off the coast of Oregon (USA). In contrast to the findings of Heuer et al. (2009) and Ijiri et al. (2012), pore water DOC at this site had δ^{13} C signatures that deviated from those of bulk sedimentary POC by as much as ±10‰. Also, δ^{13} C signatures of DOC were as low as -38.3‰. Through mass balance calculations, these authors concluded that pore water DOC was an important carbon source for both heterotrophy and organic carbon accumulation at this site.

D Fourier Transform Ion Cyclotron Resonance Mass Spectrometry (FTICR-MS)

Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FTICR-MS) is a relatively new analytical technique with very high mass resolution and accuracy, capable of providing exact chemical formulas of LMW (<~1kDa) DOM compounds (Sleighter and Hatcher, 2007). With this technique, many thousands of DOM compounds can be identified in a single sample, although quantification of the concentrations of these individual compounds is currently not possible (e.g., Kujawinski et al., 2004). Nevertheless, results to date provide important insights into the nature of recalcitrant LMW-DOM in natural systems.

Only a relatively small number of pore water samples have been analyzed by FTICR-MS (Koch et al., 2005; McKee, 2011; Schmidt et al., 2009, 2011; Tremblay et al., 2007), and so few conclusions can be drawn. A wide range of aliphatic

546

and aromatic compounds have been observed in these studies, with suggested marine and terrestrial sources. Based on elemental ratios and inferred reaction pathways determined using a van Krevelen diagram (e.g., Sleighter and Hatcher, 2007) many of the compounds detected by FTICR-MS appear to represent recalcitrant compounds produced by microbial and/or photochemical degradation processes (also see related discussions in Chipman et al., 2010).

More specifically, weighted average H/C(~1.2-1.3) and O/C (~0.4-0.5) values for these pore water samples (Koch et al., 2005; Schmidt et al., 2009) plot within the region on a van Krevelen diagram that Hertkorn et al. (2006) identify as representing carboxyl-rich alicyclic molecules (CRAM). CRAM is thought to represent a major component of recalcitrant DOM in the oceans. When these results are examined in the context of Figure 12.2, we see that they support the notion of relatively LMW recalcitrant DOM being produced during the course of organic matter remineralization in sediments. FTICR-MS studies focusing on N-containing compounds in Black Sea sediment pore waters (Schmidt et al., 2011) similarly suggest that when these DON compounds are plotted on a van Krevelen diagram they too fall within the region discussed above for recalcitrant DOM.

In two contrasting organic-rich sediments (Mangrove Lake sediments and sediments on the northwest Iberian continental margin off Spain), a relatively large number of sulfurcontaining DOM compounds were observed in pore waters by FTICR-MS (McKee, 2011; Schmidt et al., 2011). In both studies, it was suggested that organic matter sulfurization is responsible for these compounds. However, it is not clear whether this sulfur addition occurs to DOM precursors or whether sulfur addition to POM itself is the precursor to S-containing DOM compounds. Regardless of their mode of formation, S-containing DOM molecules are likely to be fairly recalcitrant (e.g., see related discussions in Kohnen et al., 1992; Tegelaar et al., 1989).

E Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)

Only a small number of pore water samples have been analyzed by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), and in all cases only HMW extracts (>0.5 or 1kDa, depending on the study) were examined (Orem and Hatcher, 1987; Orem et al., 1986; Repeta et al., 2002). In the suite of samples studied by Orem and Hatcher (1987), they observed that samples from predominantly anoxic settings were dominated by carbohydrate resonances, while DOM from more aerobic settings had NMR spectra with diminished carbohydrate character and greater aromatic character. They suggested that these differences might be the result of more effective decomposition of carbohydrates under oxidizing conditions plus significantly lower rates of lignin degradation (as the source of the observed aromatic resonances) under anoxic conditions.

The HMW pore water DOM extracts analyzed by Repeta et al. (2002), all from settings that could be considered anoxic in the context of the definitions from the Orem and Hatcher (1987) study, also had major contributions to their NMR spectra from carbohydrates, as well as bound acetate, and lipids. Acetate and carbohydrate resonances, when coupled with monosaccharide analyses of acid-hydrolyzed extracts, were interpreted as being indicative of relatively high concentrations of acylated polysaccharides in these pore waters (see Section V.B for details).

F DON and the C/N Ratio of Pore Water DOM

Much of what has been said about DOC in sediment pore waters applies equally well to pore water DON, in that nitrogen-containing DOM is also a heterogeneous class of organic compounds that range from well-defined biochemicals such as urea or amino acids, to larger dissolved proteins and peptides, to more complex (and poorly characterized) N-containing humic and fulvic acids (see recent reviews in Aluwihare and

III COMPOSITION AND DYNAMICS OF BULK PORE WATER DOM

Meador, 2008; Worsfold et al., 2008). Similarly, much of the DON in pore waters is uncharacterized at the compound level. Lomstein et al. (1998) were able to quantify ~40% of the DON in Danish coastal sediment pore waters as dissolved free and combined amino acids, although as discussed in Section IV.C the details about what these combined amino acids actually represent is uncertain.

Nitrogen found in marine DOM can have several types of functionality, although in HMW-DOM in the water column much of this functionality appears to be in the amide (-CONH₂) form (e.g., Aluwihare and Meador, 2008). This issue has not yet been examined in sediment pore waters, although given the important role of proteins (in general) and amino acids (in particular) in sedimentary carbon and nitrogen remineralization (Burdige and Martens, 1988; Cowie et al., 1992; Henrichs and Farrington, 1987) and preservation (e.g., Moore et al., 2012), amide or amine (–NH₂) functionality for much of the pore water DON seems likely. The factors controlling the preservation of nitrogen in marine sediments is an important topic of research (Derenne et al., 1998; McKee and Hatcher, 2010) and reactions involving DON intermediates might be expected to play some role in the preservation process (see discussions in Burdige, 2001; Schmidt et al., 2011).

Despite the lack of detailed information regarding the specific components that make up DOM in pore waters, the simultaneous determination of pore water DOC and DON does allow for the examination of the C/N ratio of pore water DOM (= C/N_{pDOM}), which can yield insights into the composition, reactivity, and cycling of pore water DOM. Pore water profiles of DON and C/N_{pDOM} from selected marine sediments are shown in Figure 12.4 and Table 12.1 contains a more detailed summary of C/N_{pDOM} values and depth trends from a wide range of marine sediments.

At least four general conclusions can be made from these observations. The first is that when C/N_{pDOM} values in estuarine Chesapeake Bay sediments are compared with the C/N ratio of DOM benthic fluxes, we see that DOM accumulating in sediment pore waters is depleted in nitrogen as compared to that which escapes the sediments as a benthic flux (Figure 12.6). This uncoupling is consistent with other field observations (Blackburn et al., 1996; Landén-Hillmeyr, 1998) and model results (Burdige, 2002; and Figure 12.3) and will be discussed in further detail in Section VII.C.

A second observation is that in sediments where there is a significant input of terrestrial organic matter (e.g., site N3 in the Chesapeake Bay and ODP core 1075 from the Southwest African Margin), C/N_{pDOM} values tend to be higher. This is consistent with the fact that terrestrially derived organic matter is generally depleted in nitrogen as compared to marine organic matter (C/N values of ~20-80 vs. ~6-8; e.g., Burdige, 2006b).

A third observation is that in oxic or mixed redox sediments, C/N_{pDOM} values tend to be relatively low as compared to more strict anoxic sediments. This result can be seen in Chesapeake Bay site S3 sediments, in Patton Escarpment sediments, and in oxic, pelagic sediments in the southwest Pacific. One possible explanation for these observations involves benthic macrofaunal processes that may produce low C/N ratio organic compounds, such as urea (C/N=0.5)(Burdige and Zheng, 1998; Lomstein et al., 1989). However, in the bioturbated sediments at site S3 in Chesapeake Bay, urea is not a significant component of the pore water DOM pool (Burdige, 2001). Another possible source of low C/N ratio pore water DOM compounds in mixed redox sediments are bacteria. Bacteria have C/N ratios that range from ~3 to 5 (Fenchel et al., 1998), so grazing of bacteria by higher organisms in oxic or mixed redox sediments (Kemp, 1990; Lee, 1992) could lead to the production of DOM with a low C/N ratio (e.g., certain amino acids; see Section IV.C for further details). The absence of bacterial grazing in anoxic sediments would

548

12. SEDIMENT PORE WATERS

TABLE 12.1C/N Ratios of Pore Water DOM (C/N
 $_{\rm pDOM}$) in Marine Sediments

Site	Sediment Depth (max.)	C/N _{pDOM} (range)	C/N _{pDOM} (Depth Variations)	Sediment Characteristics			
Coastal, estuarine sediments							
Chesapeake Bay site M3ª	30 cm	~12-18	No coherent trend with depth, but depth-weighted averages show seasonal variations and are highest when remineralization rates are lowest	Anoxic, non-bioturbated; sulfate reduction and methanogenesis dominate organic matter remineralization			
Chesapeake Bay site S3ª	30 cm	~8-14	No coherent depth trends	Mixed redox conditions; sediments are bioturbated and bioirrigated			
Chesapeake Bay site N3ª	30 cm	~10-30	Increase with depth	Sediment organic matter is largely terrestrially derived; some bioturbation in the upper \sim 5 cm of sediment			
Danish coastal sediments ^b	5 cm	~10-20	~20 (upper 1 cm), constant below this depth (=~10-11)	Shallow water depth (4 m); upper ~10 cm of sediment is bioturbated			
Lower St. Lawrence estuary (CA)/Gulf of St. Lawrence ^c	~2-3 cm	~5-14	Sediment depth variations not reported, although average C/ $N_{\rm pDOM}$ values increase as one moves from the lower estuary into the Gulf	As one moves from the lower estuary into the Gulf sediment organic matter reactivity decreases, sediment oxygen exposure increases, and the relative importance of terrestrial organic matter in the sediments decreases; salinity is high (>30) in the bottom waters, with little variation along this transect			
Continental margin and	deep sea sedin	nents					
Mid-Atlantic shelf/ slope break (400- 750 m water depths) ^d	30 cm	~7-17	Increase with depth in most cores	Sub-oxic sediments with minimal bioturbation in the upper 20-30 cm of sediments; nitrate becomes undetectable in the upper 1-4 cm of sediment; linear sulfate gradients in the upper 25 cm of sediment			
Santa Monica Basin (California Borderlands; 900 m water depth) ^e	30 cm	~7-18	Increase with depth (7-12 near sediment surface, 7-18 at depth)	Anoxic, sulfidic sediments with no bioturbation or bioirrigation			
San Clemente Basin (California Borderlands; ~2000 m water depth) ^e	30 cm	~7-17	Increase with depth (7-10 near sediment surface, ~17 at depth)	Sub-oxic sediments; pore water O ₂ depleted in the upper 1 cm of sediment, nitrate depleted by ~2-5 cm sediment depth			

III COMPOSITION AND DYNAMICS OF BULK PORE WATER DOM

Site	Sediment Depth (max.)	C/N _{pDOM} (range)	C/N _{pDOM} (Depth Variations)	Sediment Characteristics			
Patton Escarpment (eastern North Pacific; ~3700 m water depth) ^e	30 cm	~5-15	Minimum value observed ~1-2 cm below the sediment surface; increase with depth below	Pore water O_2 depleted at a sediment depth of ~2.5 cm, nitrate depleted by ~4-10 cm sediment depth; some sediment bioturbation and bioirrigation			
Hatteras continental rise (northwest Atlantic; ~4200 m) ^f	30 cm	~6-11	No obvious depth trends	Sub-oxic sediments; nitrate depleted by ~8 cm sediment depth after an initial increase in the upper 1-2 cm of sediment			
Southwest Pacific pelagic sediments (~2800-5400 m water depths) ^g	30-50 cm	~2-7	No obvious depth trends	Oxic sediments; nitrate increases with depth in an exponential-like fashion			
"Deep" sediment cores (Southwest African Margin) ^h							
Lower Congo Basin (ODP Leg 175, core 1075; ~3000 m water depth)	60 m	20 (±7)	No obvious depth trends	Anoxic sediments; sulfate is depleted by ~30 m sediment depth; marine and terrestrial organic matter sources			
Walvis Basin (ODP Leg 175, core 1082; ~1300 m water depth)	360 m	11.3 (±3.2)	No obvious depth trends	Anoxic sediments; sulfate is depleted by ~20 m sediment depth; predominant marine organic matter sources			

TABLE 12.1 C/N Ratios of Pore Water DOM (C/NpDOM) in Marine Sediments-cont'd

^aData from Burdige and Zheng (1998) and Burdige (2001).

^bData from Lomstein et al. (1998).

^cData from Alkhatib et al. (2012, 2013).

^dData from Burdige and Gardner (1998) and Burdige et al. (2000, unpub. data).

^cDOC and DON data from Burdige et al. (1999, unpub. data). Other data from Shaw et al. (1990), Berelson et al. (1996), and W. Berelson (pers. comm.).

^fData from Heggie et al. (1987).

⁸Data from Suess et al. (1980).

^hDOC and DON data from Burdige et al. (unpub. data); other data from Wefer et al. (1998).

then minimize the production of low C/N ratio and bacterially derived DOM (also see discussions in Burdige, 2001).

However, studies conducted in the lower St. Lawrence estuary, Canada contrast with the second and third general observations discussed above. As one moves down this estuary into the Gulf of St. Lawrence, there is an increase in C/N_{pDOM} from ~5 to ~14 in surface (upper ~2-3 cm) sediment pore waters as the

relative input of terrestrial organic matter to the sediments decreases and sediment oxygen exposure time increases (Alkhatib et al., 2013). These authors attribute these trends in C/ N_{pDOM} to a decrease in sediment organic matter reactivity along with the increase in sediment oxygen exposure time (also see Alkhatib et al., 2012). Additional work is needed to examine the reasons for contrasting trends among these environments.



FIGURE 12.6 Temporal changes in the depthweighted average value of C/N_{pDOM} (e.g., see Figure 12.4) in the pore waters (closed symbols) and the C/N ratio of the DOM escaping the sediments (i.e., the ratio of the DOC benthic flux to the DON benthic flux, open symbols) at stations S3 and M3 in the Chesapeake Bay. *Data from Burdige and Zheng* (1998) *and Burdige et al.* (2004).

The final observation based on the results in Table 12.1 is that in most of the continental margin sediments examined to date, $\mathrm{C/N}_{_{\mathrm{pDOM}}}$ values increase with sediment depth (also see the San Clemente Basin profiles in Figure 12.4). Since there is evidence for the occurrence of terrestrially derived organic matter in such continental margin sediments (see reviews in Blair and Aller, 2012; Burdige, 2006b), one explanation of these C/N_{pDOM} values is that the increased remineralization of terrestrially derived organic matter becomes increasingly important with depth, leading to the production of DOM with higher C/N ratios. Implicit in this assumption is that N-depleted, terrestrially derived organic matter deposited in these sediments is less reactive than marine-derived POM (e.g., see Burdige, 1991a).

In contrast, C/N_{pDOM} values in Chesapeake Bay estuarine sediments do not increase with sediment depth (Burdige and Zheng, 1998), despite decomposition studies suggesting that terrestrially derived POM undergoes remineralization with depth in these sediments (Burdige, 1991a). The reasons for these differences are not understood, although the results suggest that there may not be a tight coupling between the C/N ratio of sediment POM undergoing remineralization and that of its DOM intermediates (or its recalcitrant "end products," e.g., DOM in box "C" in Figure 12.2; also see discussions in Alkhatib et al., 2013). Schmidt et al. (2011) similarly suggested that FTICR-MS analyses of N-containing DOM compounds in sediment pore waters can be explained by proteins and peptides undergoing reactions that reduce the molecular size, nitrogen content, and potentially the reactivity of the products.

IV COMPOSITION AND DYNAMICS OF DOM AT THE COMPOUND AND COMPOUND-CLASS LEVELS

When looking at studies that have characterized pore water DOM at the compound or compound-class level, we note that most efforts have focused on examining concentrations and cycling of compounds that fall into the mLMW-DOM category (box "D" in Figure 12.2; also see Henrichs, 1993 for an earlier summary). While some work has been carried out examining the dynamics of the HMW-DOM pool (Arnosti, 2000; Boschker et al., 1995; Mayer and Rice, 1992; Pantoja and Lee, 1999; Robador et al., 2010), few studies have examined its chemical composition.

A Short Chain Organic Acids (SCOAs)

Interest in the study of short-chain organic acids (SCOAs) such acetate, lactate, formate, propionate, and butyrate in marine sediments stems from the observation that these compounds are important in situ substrates/electron donors (along with H₂) for terminal anaerobic remineralization processes such as iron reduction, sulfate reduction, and methanogenesis (e.g., Finke et al., 2007; Lovley and Phillips, 1987; Parkes et al., 1989; Sansone and Martens, 1982; Sørensen et al., 1981; Thamdrup, 2000; Valdemarsen and Kristensen, 2010). These organic acids are largely produced by fermentation reactions that fall along the left side of Figure 12.2 (e.g., Thauer et al., 1977). However, acetate can also be produced by CO₂ reduction using H₂ in a microbial process referred to as acetogenesis (Ragsdale and Pierce, 2008).

In the uppermost ~30 cm of most anoxic sediments, acetate concentrations range from <1 to up to ~100 μ M, generally increasing with sediment depth (Albert and Martens, 1997; Barcelona, 1980; Christensen and Blackburn, 1982; Heuer et al., 2009; Hines et al., 1994; Knab et al., 2008; Novelli et al., 1988; also see Burdige, 2002 for a more detailed list of earlier publications). In many of these studies, total DOC concentrations were generally not determined along with acetate, although where both measurements were made (or where DOC concentrations can be obtained from other published studies), acetate usually accounts for at most ~5%, and often times <1%, of the total pore water DOC.

Concentrations of other SCOAs such as formate or propionate have not been determined as frequently as acetate although when determined, their concentrations can be comparable to those of acetate (Albert and Martens, 1997; Barcelona, 1980). Previous studies (summarized in Henrichs, 1993) have also concluded that much of the acetate and other SCOAs that can be chemically measured may not be biologically available, possibly due to complexation in the pore waters; Finke et al. (2007) support these earlier suggestions. Given the importance of SCOAs as substrates for terminal anaerobic remineralization processes, all of these observations reinforce the notion that material in the mLMW-DOM pool (Figure 12.2) represents a small fraction of the total sediment pore water DOM pool whose concentration is held at relatively low levels due to rapid microbial utilization.

It is generally thought that competition for key substrates (electron donors) such as acetate or H_2 plays a major role in regulating the biogeochemical zonation of different anaerobic terminal remineralization processes (Canfield et al., 2005; Hoehler et al., 1998; Lovley and Goodwin, 1988; Lovley and Phillips, 1987). Furthermore, concentrations of these key substrates increase with decreasing energy yield of the remineralization process. For example, iron reducers appear able to maintain H_2 concentrations at levels that are too low for sulfate reducers to utilize H_2 , as sulfate reducers similarly do to out-compete methanogens for this substrate (Hoehler et al., 1998; Lovley and Goodwin, 1988).

Incubations of freshwater sediments by Lovley and Phillips (1987) show an overall order of magnitude increase in the acetate concentration when the dominant terminal remineralization process changes from iron reduction to sulfate reduction to methanogenesis. In contrast, similar competitive inhibition of acetate uptake did not affect sulfate reduction and iron reduction in surface (0-2 cm) Arctic marine sediments (Finke et al., 2007). However, field data, as well as other sediment incubation studies and bioenergetics model calculations, generally do show that the transition in marine sediments (either spatially or temporally) from sulfate reduction to methanogenesis results in an increase in acetate concentrations (Alperin

et al., 1994; Dale et al., 2006; Heuer et al., 2009; Hoehler et al., 1998; Knab et al., 2008).

Slightly different trends have been observed in deeply buried sediments (the so-called deep marine biosphere; i.e., depths beginning at 10s to 100s of meters below the seafloor, mbsf). For example, in gas hydrate-containing sediments on the Blake Ridge on the southeast US continental margin, acetate increases to a maximum concentration of ~15mM (~15% of the total DOC) in methanogenic sediments at depths of ~750 mbsf (Egeberg and Dickens, 1999) while complete sulfate depletion in the pore waters occurs at a significantly shallower sediment depth, that is, ~20 mbsf. This acetate buildup is attributed to a temperature increase with depth (due to the natural geothermal gradient) that stimulates acetate production over acetate consumption by methanogens (Wellsbury et al., 1997). Of equal importance is the fact that acetate consumption appears to occur several hundred meters shallower in the sediment column relative to its depth of production (Egeberg and Dickens, 1999). Similar depth trends were also observed in hydrate-containing sediments on the Peru margin (site 1230, Leg 201; D'Hondt et al., 2003). Here acetate concentrations increase from $<20\mu$ M to $~60\mu$ M at ~10mbsf, where sulfate concentrations go to zero, and then increase again dramatically to $\sim 200 \,\mu\text{M}$ ($\sim 2\%$ of total DOC) at ~140 mbsf. This spatial separation between acetate production and consumption in the deep marine biosphere is very different than that seen in anoxic surficial sediments (see references above) where acetate production and consumption do not show such dramatic spatial uncoupling. Further study is required to assess the significance of these observations in terms of general biogeochemical dynamics of the deep marine biosphere.

B Carbohydrates

Total dissolved carbohydrates (TDCHOs) have been determined in a limited number of coastal and continental margin sediments, with concentrations that generally range from ~10 to 400μ M C (Arnosti and Holmer, 1999; Burdige et al., 2000; Jensen et al., 2005; Lyons et al., 1979; Robador et al., 2010). In most cases TDCHO concentrations increase with depth in the upper ~20-30 cm of sediment and represent ~10-40% of the total DOC. Such relative TDCHO concentrations generally decrease in this sediment depth range although the magnitude of these changes vary among the few sites that have been examined (see Burdige et al., 2000, for details).

There have been few studies of individual aldoses (monomeric neutral sugars) in sediment pore waters. In selected pore water samples from Chesapeake Bay and mid-Atlantic shelf/slope break sediments, after acid hydrolysis ~30-50% of the TDCHOs could be identified as individual aldoses (Burdige et al., 2000), although lower percentages were observed in Danish continental margin sediments of the Skagerrak, Kattegat, and Belt Seas (Jensen et al., 2005). In the Burdige et al. (2000) study, total aldose yields (total individual aldose concentrations as a percentage of DOC) are higher in continental margin sediment pore waters (~9%) than they are in the estuarine sediment pore waters (<5%), while values in the Danish continental margin sediments range from 0.05% to 4% (Jensen et al., 2005). In both studies, dissolved glucose is the predominant aldose.

These results suggest that dissolved carbohydrate concentrations in sediment pore waters are not strongly tied to particulate (sediment) carbohydrate concentrations, and TDCHO concentrations may be more strongly controlled by sediment remineralization processes (Burdige et al., 2000). Early studies also suggested that these TDCHOs likely represent some of the initial HMW intermediates produced and consumed during sediment POC remineralization (Arnosti and Holmer, 1999; Burdige et al., 2000). However, several recent studies indicate that this may not necessarily be the case.

In long-term (24 months) sediment incubations with Arctic and temperate sediments, Robador et al. (2010) observed an absolute and relative increase with time in TDCHO concentrations. They interpret this as being the result of the accumulation of recalcitrant carbohydrates, although the absence of molecular weight data does not allow us to determine whether these are HMW or LMW entities. At the same time, in pore waters collected from sediment depths of ~100-300 mbsf in the equatorial Pacific and Peru margin (ODP Leg 201; Burdige, 2006a), TDCHOs represent up to three quarters of the total DOC (0.76 ± 0.46) , at the three open ocean sites; Figure 12.7). Furthermore, in these deeply buried sediments, as is also seen in shallow estuarine and continental margin sediments, there appears to be an inverse relationship between the relative concentrations of pore water TDCHOs and rates of sediment carbon oxidation (Figure 12.7).

One interpretation of these observations is that recalcitrant carbohydrates may be directly produced through the decomposition of more recalcitrant components of the POC pool; this has also been discussed in terms of a "decoupling"

of initial hydrolysis of POC and downstream fermentative and/or terminal metabolism (Robador et al., 2010). This observation is discussed in a more general sense in Section V. However, little is known about these recalcitrant carbohydrates. One suggestion regarding their occurrence is that structural changes (e.g., methylation, sulfurization) may render reactive carbohydrates less susceptible to further degradation. Such changes may also make individual aldoses in these carbohydrates difficult to identify after acid hydrolysis, yet may not impact their detection by the colorimetric procedures used in many of these studies to determine total dissolved carbohydrates (Burdige et al., 2000; Robador et al., 2010). Studies of the HMW isolates of three pore water samples from coastal and organic-rich continental margin sediments further indicate relatively high concentrations of acylated polysaccharides (APS) in pore waters (Repeta et al., 2002). APS represents a group of compounds that appear to be produced by marine phytoplankton and are



FIGURE 12.7 Apparent inverse relationship between the relative concentration of pore water TDCHOs and the rate of sediment carbon oxidation. (left panel) The relative concentrations of total dissolved carbohydrates (TDCHO/DOC) versus the maximum concentrations of DIC in the pore waters (DIC_{max}) at open-ocean and Peru margin sites from ODP Leg 201; data from Burdige (2006a). Note that here DIC_{max} is used as a proxy for the sediment carbon oxidation rate. (right panel) TDCHO/DOC versus the depth-integrated rate of sediment carbon oxidation at Chesapeake Bay (closed circles) and mid-Atlantic shelf/slope break sites (open squares); data from Burdige et al. (2000). Also shown here is the best fit line through this semilog plot of the data ($y = -10.54 \ln(x) + 29.48$; $r^2 = 0.73$), excluding the data point from sta. N3. In contrast to the other sites in this panel, terrestrial organic matter predominates over marine organic matter in sta. N3 sediments (Burdige et al., 2000; Marvin-DiPasquale and Capone, 1998), which may explain why its values do not fall on the best fit line shown here.

Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter, (2015), pp. 535-577

defined as being "semi-reactive" in the surface ocean, i.e., having turnover times on the order of years to decades (Repeta and Aluwihare, 2006). While APS production might explain the results from the incubation studies of Robador et al. (2010), it is difficult to see how it could explain high relative concentrations of recalcitrant carbohydrates in the pore waters of deeply buried sediments where the time scales of remineralization are clearly significantly longer than decades (Burdige, 2006a).

C Amino Acids

Amino acids comprise significant amounts of the carbon and nitrogen that are remineralized in marine sediments (e.g., Burdige and Martens, 1988; Cowie and Hedges, 1992; Henrichs and Farrington, 1987) and pore water dissolved amino acids are likely important intermediates in this process (also see references cited below in this section). Dissolved amino acids in sediment pore waters may be "free" monomeric amino acids (DFAAs) as well as combined amino acids (DCAAs); the latter generally either represent dissolved peptides (originally produced by the hydrolysis of larger proteins, e.g., Roth and Harvey, 2006) or may be incorporated into humic-like substances. Combined amino acids (at least those found in dissolved peptides) can be further hydrolyzed and deaminated to produce, among other end products, smaller peptides, ammonium, and DFAAs (e.g., Jacobsen et al., 1987; Pantoja and Lee, 1999). DFAAs can be used in a wide range of fermentation reactions, generally producing H₂ and short-chain organic acids such as acetate (Barker, 1981; Thauer et al., 1977). DFAAs can also be used directly by sulfate-reducing bacteria (e.g., Takii et al., 2008).

Studies to date in anoxic sediments suggest that most remineralization of DFAAs occurs by fermentation rather than by sulfate reduction (Burdige, 1991b; Hansen and Blackburn, 1995; Valdemarsen and Kristensen, 2010), although there appear to be exceptions (Hansen et al., 1993; Wang and Lee, 1995). In any event, when compared to H_2 or short-chain organic acids such as acetate, free amino acids are likely minor electron donors, at best, for total sulfate reduction in sediments (Burdige, 1989; Parkes et al., 1989; Valdemarsen and Kristensen, 2010)

DFAAs in pore waters have been examined in a wide range of sediments, including those in salt marsh, estuarine, coastal, continental margin, and deep-sea settings (e.g., Burdige and Martens, 1990; Haberstroh and Karl, 1989; Henrichs et al., 1984; Landén and Hall, 1998, 2000; Lomstein et al., 1998). Several of these studies have examined amino acid adsorption to sediments as well as DFAA turnover rates (also see Christensen and Blackburn, 1980; Ding and Henrichs, 2002; Henrichs and Sugai, 1993; Liu and Lee, 2007; Rosenfeld, 1979; Wang and Lee, 1993). Concentrations of total dissolved free amino acids (TDFAAs) generally decrease with sediment depth, with surface pore water concentrations usually ranging from ~20 to 200 µM and concentrations below 10-20 cm being $<5-10 \mu$ M. In the few studies where total DOC and DON have been examined along with amino acids, TDFAAs represent 1-13% of the DON and <4%of the DOC (Henrichs and Farrington, 1987; Landén and Hall, 2000; Lomstein et al., 1998).

The predominant amino acids in the DFAA pool include glutamic acid, alanine, glycine, aspartic acid, and, in some sediments, the nonprotein amino acid β -aminoglutaric acid (β -aga), an isomer of glutamic acid. Among the protein amino acids, the DFAA pool is generally enriched in glutamic acid relative to the sediment hydrolyzable amino acid pool. Other nonprotein amino acids in addition to β -aga, such as β -alanine, can also be enriched in pore waters relative to the sediments. These and other compositional differences between pore water and sediment amino acids are likely related to both biological and physical (e.g., adsorption) processes that affect amino acids as they undergo remineralization (Burdige and Martens, 1990; Henrichs and Farrington, 1987).

V MODELING DOC CYCLING IN MARINE SEDIMENTS

In anoxic sediments, the mole percentage of β -aga generally increases with depth (upper \sim 30 cm), with β -aga often becoming the predominant DFAA in pore waters (> \sim 40 mol%) (Burdige and Martens, 1990; Henrichs and Farrington, 1979; Henrichs et al., 1984). In contrast, β -aga appears to be a much less important component of the pore water DFAA pool in oxic or mixed redox sediments (Caughey, 1982; Henrichs and Farrington, 1980; Landén and Hall, 2000). The source(s) of β -aga in sediment pore waters are not well characterized (Burdige, 1989; Henrichs and Cuhel, 1985) and its relative accumulation with depth in anoxic sediments may occur because it is more recalcitrant than other amino acids (Henrichs and Farrington, 1979). The proposed recalcitrant nature of β -aga may also be a function of sediment redox conditions, similar to that observed for other recalcitrant components of the pore water DOM pool (Burdige, 2001; also see Section VI.C).

Along similar lines, there could be broader compositional differences in the dissolved amino acid pool in anoxic versus oxic/mixed redox sediments that might help explain the low C/N_{pDOM} values in these latter sediments (see Section III.F). Specifically, Burdige (2002) suggested that glycine (C/N=2) may be preferentially enriched in the pore waters of mixed redox versus strictly anoxic sediments. However, glycine is also an abundant amino acid in many benthic invertebrates (Henrichs and Farrington, 1980), and so elevated glycine levels may simply result from the release of this amino acid by benthic organisms during core collection and/ or pore water processing (Burdige and Martens, 1990; Jørgensen et al., 1981). Further studies will be needed to critically examine these observations (also see discussions in Burdige, 2001).

In contrast to studies of DFAAs, there have been far fewer studies of DCAAs in marine sediment pore waters (Caughey, 1982; Kawahata and Ishizuka, 2000; Lomstein et al., 1998; Ogasawara et al., 2001; Pantoja and Lee, 1999). In general, concentrations of total DCAAs are ~1.5-4 times that of total DFAAs. Given the small data set on pore water DCAAs, it is difficult to determine whether the composition of the DCAA pool is more similar to that of DFAAs or hydrolyzable sediment amino acids. Such information could be important in determining the extent to which the DCAA pool represents dissolved peptides or proteins (i.e., "reactive" HMW intermediates of sediment organic matter remineralization) or perhaps abiotic condensation products of, for example, melanoidin-type reactions. In the former case, the DCAA pool might be expected to be more similar to that of sediment (hydrolysable) amino acids, while in the latter case the amino acid distribution in DCAAs might be expected to look more like DFAAs (for further discussions, see Burdige, 2002).

V MODELING DOC CYCLING IN MARINE SEDIMENTS

A Production of Recalcitrant DOC: General Observations

Consistent with Figure 12.2 and discussions in Section II, a number of incubation studies show production of DOC that appears recalcitrant on time scales comparable to those over which organic matter remineralization and inorganic nutrient regeneration occur (Brüchert and Arnosti, 2003; Chipman et al., 2010; Hee et al., 2001; Komada et al., 2012; Robador et al., 2010; Weston and Joye, 2005). Production of recalcitrant DOC was observed in flow through column reactor studies run for only several hours (Chipman et al., 2010) to closed system sediment incubations lasting months (Komada et al., 2012) to years (Robador et al., 2010). In at least one of these studies (Chipman et al., 2010), FTICR-MS analyses of the produced DOM indicated the presence of lignin- and tannin-like compounds. These compounds are presumed to be fairly recalcitrant, in part because of their high degree of aromaticity (e.g., Bianchi and Canuel, 2011).

In cases where such compositional information is not available, accumulation of "recalcitrant" DOC in incubation studies could also be due to a decoupling between DOC production and degradation, as opposed to production of inherently recalcitrant DOC (Robador et al., 2010; Weston and Joye, 2005). Looking at Figure 12.2, a decrease in carbon flow from box "A" to "B" or box "B" to "D" relative to the initial organic matter breakdown (sediment POM to box "A") could, for example, result in the accumulation of DOM in boxes "A" or "B." This suggestion also reinforces the point that describing the DOC accumulating in these experiments as "recalcitrant" is somewhat subjective and in part may be a function of the time scale of the study.

In considering the production of recalcitrant DOC during overall POC remineralization, it may also be difficult to distinguish between "direct" production of recalcitrant DOC from POC or HWM intermediates (i.e., pathways 1-3) in Figure 12.2) versus pathways by which more labile LMW intermediates are transformed into recalcitrant components (i.e., pathway 4 in Figure 12.2). While there is evidence that complexation reactions can decrease the reactivity, or bioavailability, of simple monomers such as acetate (Christensen and Blackburn, 1982; Finke et al., 2007; Michelson et al., 1989), the long-term fate of these complexes is uncertain. At the same time, there is little direct evidence for the occurrence of aqueous phase geopolymerization reactions in nature (Hedges, 1988; Hedges and Oades, 1997; Henrichs, 1992), and abiotic condensation reactions involving LMW monomeric reactants are likely to be quite slow in comparison to their biological uptake or remineralization to inorganic end products (Alperin et al., 1994). If these internal conversion processes are indeed slow, it is unlikely that they would have been detected in incubation experiments such as those discussed here (also see discussions in Section VI.B).

Another important constraint on in situ production of recalcitrant DOC from labile intermediates comes from radiocarbon (¹⁴C) analysis of the DOC produced in the incubation study of Komada et al. (2012). They saw net production of DOC depleted in ¹⁴C by at least 200‰ relative to the DIC produced by fermentation and/or terminal respiration of POC, itself enriched in ¹⁴C and containing at least some bomb-¹⁴C. Given the extremely short time period of this incubation study (~4 months) relative to the half-life of ¹⁴C (5730 year), in situ production and ageing of recalcitrant DOC is not possible and its production from pre-aged (¹⁴C-depleted) POC is therefore a plausible explanation. Related discussions of this point are also presented in the next section.

B The Multi-G + DOC Model

In applying the model in Figure 12.2 to the incubation studies discussed above, an important point to recall is that different types of POC undergo remineralization with time, or in the case of sediments in situ, with depth in the sediment column. Remineralization therefore continually fractionates POC by preferentially using the most reactive material available and thus decreases the overall reactivity of that remaining (e.g., Cowie and Hedges, 1994; Middelburg, 1989). One approach to parameterizing these changes assumes that POC can be "quantized" into discrete classes with different reactivities and chemical properties, as in the multi-G model (Burdige, 1991a; Westrich and Berner, 1984). Other formulations allow for changes (decreases) in POC reactivity to be viewed as a continuous function of the age of the material, and therefore depth in a sediment column (Boudreau and Ruddick, 1991; Middelburg, 1989). There are some advantages to this latter approach to describe sediment organic matter reactivity. However, in the context of modeling DOC cycling in sediments (or in sediment incubation studies), this approach has distinct disadvantages with regard to parameterizing the changing properties of sediment POC undergoing remineralization beyond its bulk reactivity

V MODELING DOC CYCLING IN MARINE SEDIMENTS

and therefore linking POC remineralization to DOC cycling. Thus, in the following discussions, we will use a multi-*G* approach to link DOC cycling to POC remineralization.

Referring to Figure 12.2, the specific DOC transformation pathways, their rates, and the types of recalcitrant DOC that may be produced, could all depend on the source POC. Further complicating this discussion is that there are few field data with which to parameterize the types of DOC cycling illustrated in Figure 12.2 in reactive-transport (early diagenesis) models. The model illustrated in Figure 12.3 (Burdige, 2002) was one such attempt (albeit highly simplified), as was the work of Dale et al. (2008). However, this latter study focused on DOC cycling as it primarily relates to mLMW-DOC compounds (box "D" in Figure 12.2), that is, substrates such as acetate and H₂ that are directly utilized by sulfate-reducing and methanogenic bacteria.

In our most recent work (Komada et al., 2013), we approached this problem using what we refer to as the multi-*G* + DOC model (Figure 12.8). In this model, it is assumed that isotopically and kinetically heterogeneous DOC is produced and consumed during remineralization of multiple pools of metabolizable organic matter (*G_i*), each of which is characterized by distinct Δ^{14} C and δ^{13} C signatures (Δ_i and δ_i in Figure 12.8). Different DOC fractions (DOC_{*i*}) are produced by first-order degradation of *G_i* with degradation rate constant k_i , and it is assumed that DOC_i has the same isotopic values as its parent. This DOC_i is then oxidized to DIC without isotopic fractionation (Boehme et al., 1996; Heuer et al., 2009; Penning and Conrad, 2006) with rate constant k_{DOCi} . In the context of the conceptual model in Figure 12.2, the multi-*G*+DOC model takes the complexity of DOC cycling in this figure and simplifies it such that the k_{DOCi} value for each DOC_i pool effectively integrates (or averages) over the reactivity of all DOC intermediates produced and consumed downstream of the parent, particulate *G*_i material.

The multi-G + DOC model was used in the interpretation of pore water $\Delta^{14}C_{DOC}$ and $\delta^{13}C_{DOC}$ profiles obtained from the Santa Monica Basin (Komada et al., 2013; Figure 12.9). These kinetics were implemented in a steady-state, variable-porosity, reactive-transport model for carbon species in the uppermost 45 cm of the sediment column. The values of $\Delta^{14}C_{DOC}$ are about the same as, or slightly higher than, Δ^{14} C values of bulk POC, while $\Delta^{14}C_{DIC}$ is higher than Δ^{14} C values of bulk POC and DOC, indicating that POC remineralization is a selective process in which net oxidation of younger components of the POC pool to DIC occurs at a faster rate than older counterparts. Furthermore, the $\Delta^{14}C_{\text{DOC}}$ profile shows a large drop (~200‰) from the maximum value observed in the uppermost 2 cm to that observed at 30-cm sediment depth (Figure 12.9); this drop is too large

FIGURE 12.8 The multi-*G*+DOC model. Metabolizable POC is divided into *n* components, each with its own unique first-order degradation rate constant (k_i) and δ^{13} C and Δ^{14} C signatures (δ_i and Δ_i respectively). Each POC fraction (G_i) is metabolized to DOC_i without isotopic fractionation and each DOC_i fraction is oxidized to DIC (again without isotopic fractionation) with first-order rate constant k_{DOCi} . Figure modified after Komada et al. (2013).







FIGURE 12.9 Pore water DOC concentration and isotopic signature profiles from Santa Monica Basin sediments (symbols) and best fit model results (lines) using the multi-G + DOC model (Figure 12.8) in a steady-state reactive-transport model (for details see Komada et al., 2013). Upper panels show the complete profiles over 40 cm, while the lower panels highlight the upper 6 cm of sediment. Shown in the concentration plots (far left) are the model results for the three DOC sub-fractions along with modeled bulk DOC (i.e., the sum of the three fractions). Yellow filled triangles are bottom water values. Where error bars are not visible, they are smaller than the symbols. *Figure modified after Komada et al.* (2013).

to be attributed to radioactive decay during diffusive transport over this distance. While it is possible that this gradient is caused by upward diffusion of ¹⁴C-depleted DOC produced in deeper sediments, the relatively small DOC concentration gradient with depth (Figure 12.9) suggests this to be of minor importance. A more plausible explanation is that the isotopic composition of DIC and bulk DOC in the pore waters changes with depth as a result of the differential reactivities of the different G_i and DOC_i pools, and their associated Δ^{14} C and δ^{13} C signatures.

The isotopic composition and k_{DOCi} values for the three DOC fractions obtained by the model are presented in Table 12.2 and a subset of the model curves are shown in Figure 12.9. DOC₁ dominates the bulk DOC pool in the uppermost ~1 cm of the sediments, is highly reactive, and contains bomb-¹⁴C. DOC₂ dominates the bulk DOC pool throughout much of the sediment column, exhibits intermediate reactivity, and has a modern (but prebomb) Δ^{14} C signature. DOC₃, which steadily increases with depth, is virtually nonreactive and has a Δ^{14} C signature of ~-500‰. DOC₁ and DOC₂ appear to be of marine origin, while DOC₃ appears slightly depleted in ¹³C. These model results are discussed below in more detail in Sections VI.A and VII.C.

VI CONTROLS ON DOC CONCENTRATIONS IN SEDIMENTS

Site	Depth Interval of Fit	$k_{\rm DOC}$ (year ⁻¹)	$ au_{ m DOC}$ (year)	δ ¹³ C (‰) ^a	Δ ¹⁴ C (‰) ^a
Chesapeake Bay (site M3) ^b	0-25 cm	6.4 ± 2.1	~0.1-0.3		
North Carolina continental slope ^c	25-225 cm	$1.7 \pm 0.7 \times 10^{-3}$	~300-800		
Southwest African Margin (Walvis Bay, site 1082) ^d	1.5-115 m 1.5-370 m	$\begin{array}{c} 4.6 \pm 1.2 \times 10^{-5} \\ 9.3 \pm 2.9 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$	~16,000-30,000 ~7000-14,000		
Santa Monica Basin (SMB) ^e	0-45 cm				
DOC ₁		33-80	~0.01-0.03	-17 to -20.6	-58 to +68
DOC ₂		0.16-0.23	~4-6	-22 to -23	-45 to -66
DOC ₃		$\sim 1 \times 10^{-4}$	$\sim 10^{4}$	−26 to −27	-480 to -520

TABLE 12.2Model-derived Rate Constants (k_{DOC}) and Turnover Times $(\tau_{DOC} = 1/k_{DOC})$ for Sediment DOC
Consumption and Estimated Isotopic Values for Different Pore Water DOC Pools

^{*a*}These isotopic values are derived from fitting the depth profiles of pore water DOC and DIC concentration and isotopic signatures to the multi-G+DOC model discussed in Section V.B and illustrated in Figures 12.8 and 12.9 (see Komada et al., 2013, for details). The values listed here are the δ_i and Δ_i values shown in Figure 12.8. Similar isotopic values are not available for pore water DOC at the three other sites discussed in this table.

^bData from Burdige and Zheng (1998). Model results from Burdige (2002). See Figure 12.11 for best fit profiles.

^cData from Alperin et al. (1999), model results from Burdige (2002). See Figure 12.11 for best fit profiles.

^dData and model results from Burdige (2002). See Figure 12.11 for best fit profiles.

^eData and model results from Komada et al. (2013). The ranges reported here for k_{DCC} , $\delta^{13}C$ and $\Delta^{14}C$ are based on different assumptions made in the model fits to the data.

VI CONTROLS ON DOC CONCENTRATIONS IN SEDIMENTS

A Controls on DOC Concentrations in Surficial Sediments

DOC (and DON) accumulate with depth in sediment pore waters due to a slight imbalance between production and consumption (e.g., Alperin et al., 1999; Burdige and Gardner, 1998). Because this accumulation occurs predominantly in the form of recalcitrant DOM, understanding the controls on DOC concentration at depth (or the asymptotic concentration, in cases where the DOC concentration gradient diminishes to zero) may provide useful information about the origin and dynamics of recalcitrant DOC. We start this discussion by noting that in Figure 12.10 there is a positive relationship between maximum pore water DOC concentrations in anoxic surficial sediments ($[DOC]_{\infty}$) and depth-integrated rates of sediment carbon oxidation (R_{Cox}). Bioturbated/ bioirrigated sediments do not appear to fall on the trend line for anoxic sediments, for reasons discussed below in Section VI.C.

Two possibilities may explain the observations in Figure 12.10 for anoxic sediments. The first is that a balance occurs at depth between DOC production and DOC consumption (Alperin et al., 1994; Burdige and Gardner, 1998). This explanation was implicitly incorporated into the DOC reactive-transport model presented in Burdige (2002) and illustrated in Figure 12.3, in which it was assumed that the rate of DOC production from POC (R_{DOC}) could be expressed by an equation of the form,

$$R_{\rm DOC} = \left(R_o - R_{\infty}\right)e^{-\alpha z} + R_{\infty},\qquad(12.2)$$

where R_i is the rate of DOC production at the sediment surface (*i*=0) or at depth (*i*=∞) and α is the attenuation constant for this rate expression. It was also shown in Burdige (2002) that model equations containing Equation (12.2) are consistent with the observations in Figure 12.10. Interestingly, Alperin et al. (1999) used a very different modeling approach to examine sediment DOC cycling and obtained the following relationship,

$$[\text{DOC}]_{\infty} \propto R_{\text{cox}} z^*,$$
 (12.3)

where z^* is the *e*-folding depth for remineralization. Assuming that z^* is roughly constant in all of the anoxic sediments shown in Figure 12.10, this equation is similarly consistent with the observations in this figure.

The second explanation for asymptotic DOC concentrations with depth is that DOC production rates go to zero and biotic or abiotic changes in the composition of the pore water DOC pool continually decreases its bulk reactivity. This scenario would eventually lead to a situation in which pore water DOC found at depth is effectively nonreactive on early diagenetic time scales and is therefore selectively preserved (see Burdige, 2006b). In this case, one might think of this DOC at depth much like one thinks of "inert" inorganic remineralization end products such as phosphate, ammonium, or DIC, which also show similar exponential-like profiles in anoxic sediments (e.g., Berner, 1980). This analogy would then predict that greater amounts of DOC would accumulate with depth in sediment pore waters as rates of sediment carbon oxidation increase (e.g., Krom and Westrich, 1981), as is seen in Figure 12.10. However, several lines of evidence (see Section V.A and references cited therein) argue against some aspects of this second suggestion, at least over the time and depth scales of surficial sediments.



FIGURE 12.10 The maximum DOC concentration in the upper ~20-30 cm of sediment versus the depth-integrated sediment carbon oxidation rate. Open symbols represent bioturbated/bioirrigated sediments while closed symbols represent strictly anoxic sediments. The two lines highlight the general trends in the data sets but do not imply any functional relationships. Data sources: Chesapeake Bay sites M3 and S3—Burdige and Homstead (1994), Burdige and Zheng (1998), and Burdige (2001); California Borderlands and central California margin sites—Berelson et al. (1996) and Burdige et al. (1999, unpub. data); mid-Atlantic-shelf/slope break (site WC4)—Burdige et al. (2000, unpub. data); Cape Lookout Bight, NC (CLB)—Martens et al. (1992) and Alperin et al. (1994); Skan Bay (SB), Alaska—Alperin et al. (1992); station N (see Figure 12.2)—Bauer et al. (1995).

560

VI CONTROLS ON DOC CONCENTRATIONS IN SEDIMENTS

The multi-*G*+DOC model provides some insight into reconciling the two suggestions discussed above for explaining the accumulation of recalcitrant DOC with depth in anoxic sediments. Regarding the second suggestion, this model provides an explanation for how DOC reactivity decreases with depth in the absence of in situ processes that specifically produce recalcitrant material from more reactive constituents. Here, less reactive DOC is produced from less reactive POC, versus it being rendered less reactive as a result of in situ ageing or chemical transformation. This DOC also inherits it radiocarbon signature directly from its parent POC, again as opposed to acquiring it via in situ ageing.

Regarding the first suggestion that asymptotic DOC concentrations at depth represent a balance between production and consumption, we start by recognizing that in the multi-G + DOC model we express total DOC production as $\sum k_i G_i$ (Komada et al., 2013). We also assume here, for the sake of this argument, that the concentration of reactive POC in each fraction decreases exponentially with depth (e.g., Berner, 1980; Burdige, 2006b). In this case, the total rate of DOC production can be expressed as:

$$\sum k_i G_i \approx k_1 G^o, \ e^{-\alpha_1 z} + k_2 G_2^o e^{-\alpha_2 z} + k_3 G_3^o e^{-\alpha_3 z} + \dots (12.4)$$

where $\alpha_i = k_i / \omega$, ω is the sediment accumulation rate, and G_i^o is the initial concentration of organic matter in the *i*th fraction. However, in a given sedimentary setting (i.e., over specific time and depth scales), data analysis methods generally used to extract information about sediment organic matter reactivity can only determine, at most, two or three fractions of material, regardless of the number of fractions that may actually exist (e.g., Middelburg, 1989). Furthermore, since the various k, values decrease for higherorder organic matter fractions, this implies that the *e*-folding depth for the remineralization of higher-order G_i fractions $(=1/\alpha_i = \omega/k_i)$ will increase and eventually become large relative to the depth scale of the sediment system. Higherorder exponential terms in Equation (12.4) will

therefore be roughly constant with depth in this sediment (or roughly equal to zero as k_i values continually decrease) and as a result, this equation will simplify to either a single or double exponential function of depth plus a constant term, as in Equation. (12.2).

B Controls on DOC Concentrations in Deeply Buried Sediments

In contrast to the numerous DOC profiles that have been collected in surficial sediments (see Section II and earlier reviews in Burdige, 2002 and Krom and Westrich, 1981), far fewer studies have examined pore water DOC concentrations over larger depth and time scales (Burdige, 2002; Egeberg and Barth, 1998; Heuer et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2005). Additional DOC pore water data from deeply buried sediments are available in the scientific reports of selected ODP (Ocean Drilling Program) and IODP (International Ocean Drilling Program) cruises (see, most recently, Fisher et al., 2005; Tréhu et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2003). Interestingly, when such DOC profiles are compared with results from surficial sediments (Figure 12.11) one often observes a general similarity in the exponential-like shape of the profiles, in spite of significant differences in both the depth and concentration scales for the profiles. Examining these observations in the context of Equation (12.3) leads to the conclusion that z^* (i.e., the increasing depth scale over which organic matter remineralization and its associated DOC production and consumption occurs) rather than R_{cor} plays a major role in explaining the shapes of these DOC profiles. Specifically, between site M3 in Chesapeake Bay and site C on the North Carolina (NC) continental slope, R_{cox} values actually decrease from ~20 to ~5 mmol m⁻² d⁻¹ while [DOC]_m increases (Alperin et al., 1999; Burdige and Zheng, 1998). In addition, as one moves to deeply buried sediments (such as the Walvis Bay sediments), values of R_{corr} also presumably continue to decrease as $[DOC]_{\infty}$ increases.



FIGURE 12.11 Pore water DOC concentration profiles from three contrasting anoxic marine sediments fit to the ANS model in Burdige (2002). The best fit rate constants for DOC consumption (k_{DOC}) are listed in Table 12.2, while the remaining fitting parameters are listed in the original reference. Note the factor of 4 difference in concentration scales and factor of >1000 difference in depth scales as one moves from the estuarine Chesapeake Bay sediments to the deep sediment (ODP) cores collected in Walvis Basin (also note that the depth scale for the Walvis Basin core is in units of meters while the depth scales for the other two sites are in units of centimeters). The different symbols for the Chesapeake Bay plot (left) represent replicate cores collected on this date at this site. At site C on the North Carolina continental slope (center) the data were fit starting at a sediment depth of 25 cm based on the observation that the upper portion of these sediments are extensively bioturbated (Alperin et al., 1999). Finally, for the Walvis Basin sediments (right) the entire data set and the upper 115 m of sediment were fit separately to the model. Although there are factor of ~2 differences in the resulting fitting parameters of each fit (see Table 12.2), both sets of results are consistent with the general trends discussed in the text regarding the comparison of the fitting parameters from all three sediments. Data sources: Chesapeake Bay—Burdige and Zheng (1998); North Carolina continental slope—Alperin et al. (1999); Walvis Bay—DOC data from Burdige et al. (unpubl. data), other model input parameters from Wefer et al. (1998).

The significance of *z*^{*} in describing the shape of DOC profiles in deeply buried sediments also has implications for POC remineralization over these longer depth and time scales as expressed, for example, in Equation (12.4). Here, we see that lower-order organic matter fractions are "rapidly" remineralized near the sediment surface (i.e., on early diagenetic time scales) while higher-order, less reactive fractions that appear recalcitrant (or even inert) on these short time scales become increasingly more important for fueling remineralization in much deeper sediments (see, e.g., recent discussions in Hoehler and Jørgensen, 2013 and Lomstein et al., 2012).

The results in Figure 12.11 along with those in Figure 12.9 from SMB sediments can be used to

further examine the questions posed in the previous section regarding the controls on pore water DOC concentrations in sediments. We begin by comparing in Table 12.2 model-derived DOC remineralization rate constants ($k_{\rm DOC}$) and the DOC turnover times $(\tau_{\rm DOC}=1/k_{\rm DOC})$ for the four sites. For the three sites shown in Figure 12.11, these rate constants were determined using the steady-state reactive-transport model described in Burdige (2002), assuming that only one type of DOC is produced from POC according to Equation (12.2). In contrast, DOC consumption in SMB sediment pore waters was modeled using the multi-G+DOC model illustrated in Figure 12.10 with three reactive fractions of organic matter and therefore three DOC pools undergoing decomposition.

VI CONTROLS ON DOC CONCENTRATIONS IN SEDIMENTS

As a first observation, we note that even the largest k_{DOC} values listed here are, for the most part, much smaller (by up to two orders of magnitude) than analogous first-order rate constants for the decomposition of monomeric DOM such as acetate or amino acids (see summaries in Finke et al., 2007 and Henrichs, 1993). This observation is consistent with previous discussions that the bulk of the pore water DOC pool represents relatively recalcitrant material that turns over much more slowly than components of the mLMW-DOC pool. At the same time, rate constants for the degradation of synthetic melanoidins determined in studies with Alaska coastal sediments (Henrichs and Doyle, 1986) ranged from 0.7 to <0.09 year⁻¹ (τ_{DOC} from ~1 to >10 year) and are more comparable to some of the k_{DOC} and τ_{DOC} values in Table 12.2. Since melanoidins have been proposed as models for recalcitrant marine humic materials (Hedges, 1988; Krom and Sholkovitz, 1977; Nissenbaum et al., 1972), this observation is perhaps not surprising.

A comparison of the SMB results with those from the other three sites indicates that the Chesapeake Bay rate constant is intermediate between the SMB k_{DOC1} and k_{DOC2} values while the NC continental slope value is intermediate between k_{DOC2} and k_{DOC3} . Given the broad types of POC deposited in these sediments, and their assumed reactivity, these observations suggest that rate constants derived from models assuming only one type of pore water DOC undergoing remineralization likely "average" over the rate constants one obtains by assuming the existence of multiple DOC pools with differing reactivities (see similar discussions in Arndt et al., 2013, regarding 1–G vs. multi-G POC-only degradation models).

Overall, these observations suggest that POC degradation through DOC intermediates can be minimally described as a two-step process as defined by the multi-G+DOC model in Figure 12.9. However, as noted above, this approach is clearly an oversimplification of the

dynamics of DOC production and consumption illustrated in Figure 12.2, despite the success of the multi-*G*+DOC model in linking bulk POC reactivity to its isotopic signatures (δ^{13} C and Δ^{14} C) and those of its downstream DOC intermediates and remineralization end products (i.e., DIC). Future work should therefore be aimed at better incorporating aspects of the conceptual model in Figure 12.2 into kinetic models like the multi-*G*+DOC model, and eventually into DOC reactive-transport models.

Also of equal interest here is the almost seven orders-of-magnitude decrease in k_{DOC} values (or increase in τ_{DOC} values) as one moves from the most reactive DOC fraction in surficial SMB sediments to deep Walvis Basin sediments. When looked at in the context of the discussion above, these trends are most easily explained by the remineralization of increasingly recalcitrant sediment POC leading to the net production of increasingly recalcitrant pore water DOC.

Within SMB sediments (Komada et al., 2013), the depth distribution of $\Delta^{14}C_{DOC}$ (Figure 12.9) places important constraints on possible sources of recalcitrant DOC in these sediments and suggests that it is highly unlikely that this material forms within the pore waters from labile moieties (see Section V.B for details). However, when this problem is examined over the much longer time and depth scales of deeply buried sediments, the possibility exists that some amount of the pore water DOC also undergoes internal transformations (by any number of possible mechanisms discussed in Section II) that lead to a decrease in its reactivity (also see discussions in Section V.A and in Burdige, 2002). With time, such processes could play a role in the accumulation of higher concentrations of more recalcitrant DOC and ultimately be involved in overall sediment carbon preservation (see Section VI.D for further discussions). More detailed compositional and/or structural studies of pore water DOC from a wide range of sedimentary settings may be able to provide additional insights into this problem.

C Possible Redox Controls on Pore Water DOC Concentrations

Results in Figure 12.10 illustrate that asymptotic DOC concentrations in mixed redox sediments are in general lower than those in strictly anoxic sediments. As noted in Section II, similar observations date back to studies of DOC cycling as early as the 1970s. Model calculations presented in Burdige (2002) illustrate that changes in sediment redox conditions alter carbon flow through DOM intermediates and lead to the buildup of recalcitrant DOM under anoxic conditions (also see discussions in Burdige, 2001). This accumulation appears to occur as a result of some combination, under mixed redox conditions, of either enhanced consumption of recalcitrant DOM (pathway 5 in Figure 12.2 or the lower pathway in Figure 12.3) or preferential carbon flow through mLMW-DOM intermediates (i.e., carbon flow via the vertical arrows on the left side of Figure 12.2 or the upper pathway in Figure 12.3 (a)).

Evidence in support of the former suggestion comes from observations that the ratio of humiclike fluorescence to total DOC concentration is higher in pore waters of strictly anoxic versus mixed redox sediments (Burdige et al., 2004; Komada et al., 2004; also see Section III.B). One possible explanation for this is that by analogy with discussions of the factors controlling the preservations of POM in sediments (see reviews in Blair and Aller, 2012; Burdige, 2007; Hedges and Keil, 1995; Zonneveld et al., 2010), the presence of O₂ and/or the occurrence of mixed redox conditions may similarly enhance the remineralization of certain types of recalcitrant DOM in sediment pore waters. Such "oxygen" effects may express themselves in a number of different direct and indirect ways that are described in greater detail in the reviews cited above.

The cycling of DOC in sediment pore waters may also be impacted by iron redox cycling, given the strong affinity of DOC compounds to adsorb to iron oxide surfaces (see discussions in Chin et al., 1998; Lalonde et al., 2012; Skoog and Arias-Esquivel, 2009). However, the broaderscale significance that this may have on redox controls of pore water DOC concentrations requires further study.

D Interactions Between DOM and Sediment Particles and the Possible Role of DOM in Sediment Carbon Preservation

In addition to biological processes that affect DOM, physical interactions with sediment particles, for example, adsorption, are also of some importance (Figure 12.2). If we assume adsorption is a reversible, equilibrium process, then a simple linear adsorption isotherm can be used to describe the process (Stumm and Morgan, 1996),

$$\overline{C} = K^* C, \qquad (12.5)$$

where *C* is the concentration of the adsorbed compound (in units of, e.g., $mmolkg^{-1}$, where kg is kilograms of dry sediment), *C* is the concentration of the compound in solution (in units of, e.g., mM), and *K*^{*} is the adsorption coefficient with units of Lkg^{-1} .

Adsorption can decrease the availability of DOM to microbial degradation (e.g., Sugai and Henrichs, 1992) and may play a role in sediment carbon preservation (see the discussion at the end of this section). Ionic interactions or weaker Van der Waals interactions appear to be the predominant mechanisms by which reversible adsorption occurs (Arnarson and Keil, 2001; Henrichs and Sugai, 1993; Liu and Lee, 2007; Wang and Lee, 1993). For simple LMW-DOM such as glucose, amino acids, and short-chain organic acids, adsorption coefficients range from ~0.1 to ~300 Lkg⁻¹ (e.g., Henrichs, 1992, 1995; Liu and Lee, 2007; Sansone et al., 1987), while larger molecules such as proteins or synthetic melanoidins have K* values that range from 50 to 600 Lkg⁻¹ (Ding and Henrichs, 2002; Henrichs, 1995; Henrichs and Doyle, 1986). Adsorption studies using natural assemblages of pore water DOM yield K* values that range from 1 to 3200Lkg⁻¹ (Arnarson and Keil, 2001; Thimsen and Keil, 1998).

VII THE ROLE OF BENTHIC DOM FLUXES IN THE OCEAN CARBON AND NITROGEN CYCLES

Positively charged organic molecules, for example, basic amino acids such as lysine, are more strongly adsorbed than neutral or negatively charged organic molecules; this has historically been attributed to the fact that most natural sediments have a negative surface charge (see Henrichs, 1992 for a summary). However, recent studies also suggest that in some marine sediments adsorption of LMW-DOM to sediment organic matter itself may be more important than adsorption to mineral surfaces (Liu and Lee, 2007). Furthermore, organic matter architecture as well as diagenetic history (also sometimes referred to as diagenetic maturity; e.g., Cowie and Hedges, 1994) appears to influence not only the overall extent of adsorption but also changes in the extent of adsorption as a function of DOM characteristics such as hydrophobicity (Liu and Lee, 2006, 2007; Wang and Lee, 1993). Increasing molecular weight and increasing hydrophobicity may enhance adsorption (Henrichs, 1992, 1995), although in the context of the recent studies discussed above, this generalization may require reexamination.

Several studies have also shown that much of this DOM adsorption is only partially reversible and in some cases is effectively irreversible (Ding and Henrichs, 2002; Henrichs and Sugai, 1993; Liu and Lee, 2007; Wang and Lee, 1993). The causes of this behavior may include: attachment of molecules to multiple binding sites that slow down desorption (Collins et al., 1995; Henrichs and Sugai, 1993), chemical reactions between adsorbed molecules and sedimentary organic matter (Henrichs and Sugai, 1993), and enzyme-type adsorption sites with high desorption activation energies (Liu and Lee, 2007).

Sorption of DOC to sediment particles can affect pore water DOC concentrations (Hedges and Keil, 1995; Henrichs, 1995; Papadimitriou et al., 2002), and it has been suggested that pore water DOC concentrations may be "buffered" by reversibly sorbed DOC in equilibrium with the pore waters (Thimsen and Keil, 1998). However, Alperin et al. (1999) concluded that buffering of pore water DOC concentrations by reversible sorption is not an important controlling factor in explaining pore water DOC concentrations in NC continental slope sediments. Furthermore, in situations where rates of sediment accumulation and bioturbation are sufficiently low, reversible adsorption can be neglected in reactive-transport models (Berner, 1980; Komada et al., 2004), further minimizing the importance of reversible adsorption in impacting pore water DOC concentrations.

DOM-particle interactions such as those discussed above have also been examined in terms of broader, and more general, questions of how these interactions may impact sediment carbon preservation. Many aspects of this have been discussed previously (Burdige, 2007; Hedges and Keil, 1995; Henrichs, 1995) and for details the interested reader is urged to consult these publications. A more recent study examining the role of reactive iron in promoting organic carbon preservation in marine sediments also discusses the role pore water DOC may play in this type of sediment carbon preservation (Lalonde et al., 2012).

Similarly, given other recent studies examining the ways in which humic substances may form (Piccolo, 2001; Sutton and Sposito, 2005), many properties of pore water DOM (LMW, low degree of "bulk" reactivity) also argue for pore water DOM playing a potentially important role in the formation of presumably recalcitrant humic materials (see Section II for details). However, more work is needed to examine the role this may ultimately play in sediment carbon preservation.

VII THE ROLE OF BENTHIC DOM FLUXES IN THE OCEAN CARBON AND NITROGEN CYCLES

A Benthic DOC Fluxes

The fact that concentrations of both DOC and DON in sediment pore waters are often elevated over bottom water concentrations implies that sediments can be a potential source of DOM to

566

12. SEDIMENT PORE WATERS

overlying waters. The occurrence of these benthic fluxes was discussed in the literature beginning in the 1980s (e.g., Hedges, 1992; Heggie et al., 1987; Williams and Druffel, 1987) where it was suggested that sediments might represent a significant source of DOC to the deep ocean and that benthic DOC fluxes might provide an explanation for the apparent discrepancy between the "old" (~6000 ybp) ¹⁴C age of deep water DOC and the average oceanic mixing time of ~1000 year (for details also see Burdige, 2002). The direct measurement of these fluxes was undertaken in studies beginning in the 1990s using either core incubation techniques or in situ benthic landers or chambers (see Burdige et al., 1999, for a summary). Benthic DOC fluxes determined in this manner in a number of estuarine, coastal, and continental margin sediments range from ~0.1 to $3 \text{ mmol m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$.

In a compilation and synthesis of these results, Burdige et al. (1999) observed the following positive, but nonlinear, relationship between benthic DOC fluxes (BDF) and depth-integrated sediment carbon oxidation rates (R_{cox}):

$$BDF = 0.36R_{cox}^{0.29}$$
(12.6)

(BDF and R_{corr} both expressed here in units of $mmol m^{-2} d^{-1}$). The relationship implies that the ratio of BDF to R_{cox} increases with decreasing R_{cor} . Using Equation (12.6) Burdige et al. (1999) estimated that the integrated DOC flux from coastal and continental margin sediments (0-2000 m water depth) was ~180 TgC year⁻¹. Three other estimates of this quantity for this sedimentary region, determined using different approaches, have also been presented; in one case, a near-identical value was obtained (Dunne et al., 2007), while in the other two cases, smaller values of 40 TgC year⁻¹ (Alperin et al., 1999) and 90 TgC year⁻¹ were obtained (Maher and Eyre, 2010). However, the Maher and Eyre (2010) value is based on a definition of the continental shelf that is significantly smaller in surface area (factor of ~ 10) than that used in the other studies.

In addition to coastal and continental margin sediments, Maher and Eyre (2010) estimated the integrated benthic DOC flux from intertidal and vegetated (seagrass, macroalgae, salt marsh, and mangrove) sediments not explicitly considered in the other estimates discussed above. For these sediments they obtained a value of ~170TgC year⁻¹, with vegetated sediments accounting for >90% of this flux. Their work (also see Maher and Eyre, 2011) further shows while these sites are net sources of DOC over diel cycles, this is often a balance between DOC uptake in the dark and release during daylight. These observations further highlight the role that higher plants may play in such environments in mediating DOC fluxes to the water column (also see discussions in Section VII.B).

Dunne et al. (2007) also estimated an integrated DOC flux of ~100 TgC year⁻¹ from sediments in water depths >2000 m. This estimate is extrapolated from calculated fluxes determined with DOC pore water profiles from cores collected at a single site at a water depth of 3500 m (Papadimitriou et al., 2002). Based on a comparison of these pore water profiles with those presented by Hall et al. (2007), and the discussion in Section II.A of possible artifacts associated with deep-sea pore water DOC determinations, it seems possible that this estimate of the integrated benthic DOC flux from deep-sea sediments may be an overestimate (also see discussions in Brunnegård et al., 2004). More work will be needed to evaluate deep-sea benthic DOC fluxes and noninvasive in situ techniques for measuring benthic fluxes may hold promise here (e.g., Swett, 2010).

Returning to the examination of benthic DOC fluxes from non-vegetated coastal and continental margin sediments, we note that these fluxes are generally less than ~10% of sediment carbon oxidation rates (for details see Burdige et al., 1999). Thus, these sediments are quite efficient in oxidizing DOM produced during remineralization processes, consistent with past discussions in this chapter. Similar trends also appear to be

VII THE ROLE OF BENTHIC DOM FLUXES IN THE OCEAN CARBON AND NITROGEN CYCLES

the case for sediment DON cycling (see next section) and both observations imply that net sediment DOM production is small in comparison to gross sediment DOM production. These trends are consistent with prior discussions regarding carbon and nitrogen flow through DOM intermediates during sediment POM remineralization and the role of DOM as an intermediate in the overall remineralization process.

A second implication of these results is that the integrated benthic DOC flux from coastal and continental margin sediments including vegetated sediments (~350 TgC year⁻¹) is comparable to (or even larger than) estimates of the riverine DOC input of $\sim 210 \,\mathrm{TgC}$ year⁻¹ (Ludwig and Probst, 1996). Thus, marine sediments may be an important net source of DOC to the oceans (Burdige et al., 1999). However, the actual impact these fluxes have on the oceanic carbon cycle ultimately depends on the extent to which sediment-derived DOM is reactive in the water column. This point will be discussed in greater detail in Section VII.C (also see discussions in Alperin et al., 1999 and Maher and Eyre, 2010).

B Benthic DON Fluxes

Interest in benthic DON fluxes and their role in the marine nitrogen cycle is similar to that discussed above for benthic DOC fluxes and the marine carbon cycle. However, because nitrogen is a limiting nutrient in marine ecosystems (Gruber, 2008) and because marine phytoplankton can use DON as their nitrogen source (Mulholland and Lomas, 2008), there is additional interest in understanding the role of sediments as a source of DON to the water column.

A number of studies have examined benthic DON fluxes from coastal, estuarine, and continental margin sediments (see reviews in Bronk and Steinberg, 2008 and Burdige, 2002). Benthic DON fluxes show a tremendous range in both absolute magnitude and direction (into and out of the sediments). However, at estuarine or coastal sites where repeated (or seasonal) studies have been carried out, mean or annual averages generally suggest that benthic DON fluxes are small, usually out of the sediments, and are only a small percentage of the benthic dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) flux (e.g., see Burdige and Zheng, 1998 for more details; DIN = the sum of ammonium, nitrate, and nitrite). For example, in Chesapeake Bay sediments, benthic DON fluxes range from ~0.08 to 0.2 mmolm⁻²d⁻¹ in the anoxic sediments at site M3 and 0-0.4 mmolm⁻²d⁻¹ in the bioturbated and bioirrigated sediments at site S3 (Burdige, 2001; Burdige and Zheng, 1998). At both sites, benthic DON fluxes were only ~3-4% of benthic DIN fluxes.

In contrast, at some sites, benthic DON fluxes are comparable to, or even exceed, benthic DIN fluxes or integrated rates of sediment denitrification. These include high latitude (Arctic) sediments (Blackburn et al., 1996), North Sea continental margin sediments (Landén-Hillmeyr, 1998), estuarine mudflat sediments (Cook et al., 2004), microtidal fjord sediments (Sundbäck et al., 2004), and subtropical estuarine euphotic sediments (Ferguson et al., 2004).

The reasons for widely varying differences in the relative magnitude as well as the direction of benthic DON fluxes are not well understood. In some cases, they may be the result of transient (non-steady-state) events; for example, Blackburn et al. (1996) suggested that the large DON fluxes observed may have been a temporary phenomena associated with the recent sedimentation of fresh detrital material. Similarly, as is the case for benthic DOC fluxes (see the previous section), the presence of macroalgae, microphytobenthos, and benthic macrofauna can impact the magnitude and direction of benthic DON fluxes over a range of time scales (see discussions in Bronk and Steinberg, 2008; Ferguson et al., 2004; Maher and Eyre, 2011; Sundbäck et al., 2004; Tyler et al., 2003). Additional discussions on the controls of benthic DON fluxes can be found in Burdige and Zheng (1998) and Alkhatib et al. (2013).

C The Impact of Benthic DOM Fluxes on the Composition and Reactivity of Oceanic DOM

Interest in DOM fluxes from marine sediments stems in part from a recognition of the need to better understand the sources and sinks of DOM in the oceans (Hansell et al., 2009, 2012). Although benthic fluxes of DOC (Burdige et al., 1999; Dunne et al., 2007; Maher and Eyre, 2010) and DON (Alkhatib et al., 2013; Brunnegård et al., 2004; Burdige and Zheng, 1998) appear to be of similar magnitude to their riverine inputs, the impact of these fluxes on water column DOM concentrations and properties depends on the reactivity of sediment-derived DOM in the water column. If sediment-derived DOC (or DON) is reactive in the water column and undergoes remineralization on time scales shorter than that required for transport out of the benthic boundary region, or deep water residence times, then these fluxes will have a minimal impact on deep water DOM properties. Conversely, if this material is sufficiently recalcitrant, then these fluxes could represent an important source of DOM to the deep ocean and might also help explain, for example, the ¹⁴C content of deep water DOC.

Several lines of evidence from contrasting marine sediments suggest that not all of the DOM escaping from sediments as a benthic flux is recalcitrant, and that it has the potential to be reactive in the water column. In estuarine Chesapeake Bay sediments, a comparison of measured benthic DOM fluxes versus calculated, diffusive DOM fluxes suggests that there is enhanced production of N-rich DOM at or near the sediment-water interface relative to the DOM accumulating in these sediment pore waters (Figure 12.6). Similar trends in DOM elemental ratios have been observed in other sediments (Blackburn et al., 1996; Landén-Hillmeyr, 1998) and were explained as being due to the diffusional loss of low C/N ratio DOM produced during the initial hydrolysis of fresh detrital organic matter near the sediment surface. This explanation is consistent with discussions in Burdige and Gardner (1998) regarding the spatial separation between sediment processes that produce the initial HMW intermediates of sediment POM remineralization and those responsible for the production of bulk recalcitrant pore water DOM. Such spatial separation of these processes can also be inferred from model results illustrated here in Figure 12.3 (Burdige, 2002).

Isotope studies of pore water DOC provide another approach to examining this problem. At two sites in the eastern North Pacific examined by Bauer et al. (1995), pore water DOC near the sediment surface was greatly enriched in ¹⁴C as compared to bottom water DOC (also see Figure 12.9 and Section III.C), and based on these observations these authors concluded that sediments are not a major source of pre-aged (¹⁴C-depleted) DOC to the oceans. However, it is important to remember that the ¹⁴C signature of bulk DOC is actually a weighted average value based on the distribution of ¹⁴C signatures of all of the molecules present in the sample (e.g., Loh et al., 2004). Recent work by Komada et al. (2013) supports this observation for sediment pore waters (Table 12.2 and Figure 12.9), suggesting that pore water DOC at any given depth is a mixture of components of varying reactivities and isotopic signatures. Pore water DOC near the surface of SMB sediments appears ¹⁴C-young and labile (as was also noted by Bauer et al., 1995), and upon escaping the sediments as a benthic flux, the majority of this material is indeed likely oxidized in the bottom waters. However, modeling these pore water data also indicates the presence of an aged, recalcitrant DOC component. This recalcitrant (i.e., DOC₃) material represents ~3-8% of the total benthic DOC flux from these sediments (Komada et al., 2013), and as is shown in Table 12.2, is also depleted in ¹⁴C. The significance of this is that the input of ¹⁴C-depleted DOC to the ocean complicates the linkage between the apparent radiocarbon "age" of DOC in the deep ocean and its true deep ocean turnover time (Bauer and Druffel, 1998; Guo and

VIII CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

Santschi, 2000; McCarthy et al., 2011; Raymond and Bauer, 2001a)

On a global scale, the benthic DOC flux from non-vegetated coastal and continental margin sediments has been estimated at ~180 TgC year⁻¹ (see Burdige et al., 1999, and Section VII.A). If, based on the discussion above, we now assume that 3-8% of this material survives remineralization in the near-bottom waters, then 5-14TgC year⁻¹ of recalcitrant DOC from coastal and continental margin sediments is added to the oceans (Komada et al., 2013). This flux represents 12-33% of the turnover rate of recalcitrant DOC in the deep ocean (=43 TgC year⁻¹), the latter determined by modeling DOC distributions in the global oceans (Hansell et al., 2012). These results argue strongly for the important role of sediment processes and benthic DOC fluxes in adding recalcitrant and ¹⁴C-depleted DOC to the deep oceans, although further work is needed to better constrain the production rate of recalcitrant pore water DOC in sediments and the role it plays in determining the Δ^{14} C value (and turnover time) of deep ocean DOC.

Finally, sediment pore water DOC interactions (Section VI.D) could play a role in a slightly different fashion in adding ¹⁴C-depleted DOC to the deep ocean. This possibility is based on results from Guo and Santschi (2000), who observed that simple desorption of colloidal (>1kDa) organic matter from continental margin sediments yields DOC that has a substantially greater ¹⁴C-age than the bulk sediment organic matter (~3000 vs. 700 year, respectively). While the details of how this material ages in the sediments is somewhat uncertain, desorption of this material from sediments in the benthic nepheloid layer, coupled with its off-shore transport (e.g., Bauer and Druffel, 1998), could add pre-aged DOC to the deep ocean DOC.

VIII CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

Throughout this chapter, we have attempted to summarize and synthesize the existing data on DOM in marine sediment pore waters and present explanations that (at least to us) appear to best explain the observations. Addressing many of the important problems and questions that still remain will involve studies linking DOM composition, structure, and reactivity with a better understanding of the pathways and processes that are illustrated in Figure 12.2. Studies of the chemical composition and structure of the parent POM should also be useful here in understanding DOM cycling. As was noted in the first edition of this chapter (Burdige, 2002), many of these questions can be (and will continue to be) addressed in carefully conducted sediment incubation experiments, such as those discussed in Section V.A.

The general role of sediment redox conditions in DOM cycling, and the ways it may link DOM cycling and overall sediment carbon preservation, remain a continuing area of interest and inquiry. Finally, in terms of DOM cycling in specific sedimentary environments, a number of important and interesting questions remain about these processes in the very different realms of shallow, permeable sediments and deeply buried sediments (deep marine biosphere).

Acknowledgments

Over the years, our work on pore water DOM has been funded by the US National Science Foundation, the Office of Naval Research, and the Petroleum Research Fund of the American Chemical Society. We thank them for their financial support. We thank Dennis Hansell and Craig Carlson for taking the initiative to organize and put together this second edition of the "DOM" book. We also thank Bente Lomstein for her review of an earlier version of this chapter. Finally, we thank all of our current and former students, technicians, postdocs, and scientific colleagues for all they contributed over the years to our work on sediment DOM cycling.

References

- Albert, D.B., Martens, C.S., 1997. Determination of low-molecular weight organic acid concentrations in seawater and pore-water samples via HPLC. Mar. Chem. 56, 27–37.
- Alkhatib, M., Schubert, C.J., del Giorgio, P.A., Gelinas, Y., Lehmann, M.F., 2012. Organic matter reactivity indicators in sediments of the St. Lawrence Estuary. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 102–103, 36–47.

570

- Alkhatib, M., del Giorgio, P.A., Gelinas, Y., Lehmann, M.F., 2013. Benthic fluxes of dissolved organic nitrogen in the lower St. Lawrence estuary and implications for selective organic matter degradation. Biogeosciences 10, 7609–7622.
- Aller, R.C., 1994. Bioturbation and remineralization of sedimentary organic matter: effects of redox oscillation. Chem. Geol. 114, 331–345.
- Alperin, M.J., Reeburgh, W.S., Devol, A.H., 1992. Organic carbon remineralization and preservation in sediments of Skan Bay, Alaska. In: Whelan, J.K., Farrington, J.W. (Eds.), Productivity, Accumulation, and Preservation of Organic Matter in Recent and Ancient Sediments. Columbia Univ. Press, pp. 99–122.
- Alperin, M.J., Albert, D.B., Martens, C.S., 1994. Seasonal variations in production and consumption rates of dissolved organic carbon in an organic-rich coastal sediment. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 58, 4909–4929.
- Alperin, M.J., Martens, C.S., Albert, D.B., Suayah, I.B., Benninger, L.K., Blair, N.E., et al., 1999. Benthic fluxes and porewater concentration profiles of dissolved organic carbon in sediments from the North Carolina continental slope. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 63, 427–448.
- Aluwihare, L.I., Meador, T., 2008. Chemical composition of marine dissolved organic nitrogen. In: Capone, D.G., Bronk, D.A., Mulholland, M.R., Carpenter, E.J. (Eds.), Nitrogen in the Marine Environment, second ed. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Amon, R.M.W., Benner, R., 1994. Rapid cycling of high-molecular-weight dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature 369, 549–552.
- Arnarson, T.S., Keil, R.G., 2001. Organic-mineral interactions in marine sediments studied using density fractionation and X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Org. Geochem. 32, 1401–1415.
- Arndt, S., Jørgensen, B.B., LaRowe, D.E., Middelburg, J.J., Pancost, R., Regnier, P., 2013. Quantifying the degradation of organic matter in marine sediments: a review and synthesis. Earth-Sci. Rev. 123, 53–86.
- Arnosti, C., 2000. Substrate specificity in polysaccharide hydrolysis: contrasts between bottom water and sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 45, 1112–1119.
- Arnosti, C., 2004. Speed bumps in the carbon cycle: substrate structural effects on carbon cycling. Mar. Chem. 92, 263–273.
- Arnosti, C., Holmer, M., 1999. Carbohydrate dynamics and contributions to the carbon budget of an organic-rich coastal sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 63, 353–403.
- Avery Jr., G.B., Kieber, R.J., Taylor, K.J., Dixon, J.L., 2012. Dissolved organic carbon release from surface sand of a high energy beach along the Southeastern Coast of North Carolina, USA. Mar. Chem. 132–133, 23–27.
- Barcelona, M.J., 1980. Dissolved organic carbon and volatile fatty acids in marine sediment pore waters. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 44, 1977–1984.

- Barker, H.A., 1981. Amino acid degradation by anaerobic bacteria. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 50, 23–40.
- Bauer, J.E., 2002. Carbon isotopic composition of DOM. In: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C. (Eds.), Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Bauer, J.E., Druffel, E.R.M., 1998. Ocean margins as a significant source of organic matter to the deep open ocean. Nature 392, 482–485.
- Bauer, J.E., Reimers, C.E., Druffel, E.R.M., Williams, P.M., 1995. Isotopic constraints on carbon exchange between deep ocean sediments and sea water. Nature 373, 686–689.
- Benamou, C., Richou, M., Benaïm, J.Y., Loussert, A., Bartholin, F., Richou, J., 1994. Laser-induced fluorescence of marine sedimentary interstitital dissolved organic matter. Mar. Chem. 46, 7–23.
- Benner, R., 2002. Chemical composition and reactivity. In: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.D. (Eds.), Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Berelson, W.M., McManus, J., Kilgore, T., Coale, K., Johnson, K.S., Burdige, D., et al., 1996. Biogenic matter diagenesis on the sea floor: a comparison between two continental margin transects. J. Mar. Res. 54, 731–762.
- Berelson, W., McManus, J., Coale, K., Johnson, K., Burdige, D., Kilgore, T., Colodner, D., Chavez, F., Kudela, R., Boucher, J., 2003. A time series of benthic flux measurements from Monterey Bay, CA. Cont. Shelf Res. 23, 457–481.
- Berner, R.A., 1980. Early Diagenesis: A Theoretical Approach. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.
- Bianchi, T.S., Canuel, E.A., 2011. Chemical Biomarkers in Aquatic Ecosystems. Princeton University Press, Princeton N.J.
- Blackburn, T.H., Hall, P.O.J., Hulth, S., Landén, A., 1996. Organic-N loss by efflux and burial associated with a low efflux of inorganic N and with nitrate assimilation in Arctic sediments (Svalbard, Norway). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 141, 283–293.
- Blair, N.E., Aller, R.C., 2012. The fate of terrestrial organic carbon in the marine environment. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 4, 401–423.
- Boehme, J.R., Coble, P.G., 2000. Characterization of colored dissolved organic matter using high-energy laser fragmentation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34, 3283–3290.
- Boehme, S.E., Blair, N.E., Chanton, J.P., Martens, C.S., 1996. A mass balance of ¹³C and ¹²C in an organic-rich methaneproducing marine sediment. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 60, 3835–3848.
- Boschker, H.T.S., Bertilsson, S.A., Dekkers, E.M.J., Cappenberg, T.E., 1995. An inhibitor-based method to measure initial decomposition of naturally occurring polysaccharides in sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61, 2186–2192.

REFERENCES

- Boss, E., Pegau, W.S., Zaneveld, J.R.V., Barnard, A.H., 2001. Spatial and temporal variability of absorption by dissolved material at a continental shelf. J. Geophys. Res. 106, 9499–9507.
- Boudreau, B.P., Ruddick, B.R., 1991. On a reactive continuum representation of organic matter diagenesis. Am. J. Sci. 291, 507–538.
- Boudreau, B.P., Huettel, M., Forster, S., Jahnke, R.A., McLachlan, A., Middelburg, J.J., et al., 2001. Permeable marine sediments, overturning an old paradigm. Eos Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 82, 133.
- Bronk, D.A., Steinberg, D.K., 2008. Nitrogen regeneration. In: Capone, D.G., Bronk, D.A., Mulholland, M.R., Carpenter, E.J. (Eds.), Nitrogen in the Marine Environment, second ed. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Brüchert, V., Arnosti, C., 2003. Anaerobic carbon transformation: experimental studies with flow-through cells. Mar. Chem. 80, 171–183.
- Brunnegård, J., Grandel, S., Ståhl, H., Tengberg, A., Hall, P.O.J., 2004. Nitrogen cycling in deep-sea sediments of the Porcupine Abyssal Plain, NE Atlantic. Prog. Oceanogr. 63, 159–181.
- Burdige, D.J., 1989. The effects of sediment slurrying on microbial processes, and the role of amino acids as substrates for sulfate reduction in anoxic marine sediments. Biogeochemistry 8, 1–23.
- Burdige, D.J., 1991a. The kinetics of organic matter mineralization in anoxic marine sediments. J. Mar. Res. 49, 727–761.
- Burdige, D.J., 1991b. Microbial processes affecting alanine and glutamic acid in anoxic marine sediments. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 85, 211–231.
- Burdige, D.J., Homstead, J., 1994. Fluxes of dissolved organic carbon from Chesapeake Bay sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 58, 3407–3424.
- Burdige, D.J., 2001. Dissolved organic matter in Chesapeake Bay sediment pore waters. Org. Geochem. 32, 487–505.
- Burdige, D.J., 2002. Sediment pore waters. In: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.D. (Eds.), Biogeochemistry of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Burdige, D.J., 2006a. Data report: dissolved carbohydrates in interstitial waters from the Equatorial Pacific and Peru Margin, ODP Leg 201. In: Jørgensen, B.B., D'Hondt, S.L., Miller, D.J. (Eds.), Proceedings of the ODP, Scientific Results 201,1–10.
- Burdige, D.J., 2006b. Geochemistry of Marine Sediments. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton N.J.
- Burdige, D.J., 2007. The preservation of organic matter in marine sediments: controls, mechanisms and an imbalance in sediment organic carbon budgets? Chem. Rev. 107, 467–485.
- Burdige, D.J., Gardner, K.G., 1998. Molecular weight distribution of dissolved organic carbon in marine sediment pore waters. Mar. Chem. 62, 45–64.
- Burdige, D.J., Martens, C.S., 1988. Biogeochemical cycling in an organic-rich marine basin -10. The role of amino acids

in sedimentary carbon and nitrogen cycling. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 52, 1571–1584.

- Burdige, D.J., Martens, C.S., 1990. Biogeochemical cycling in an organic-rich marine basin -11. The sedimentary cycling of dissolved free amino acids. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 54, 3033–3052.
- Burdige, D.J., Zheng, S., 1998. The biogeochemical cycling of dissolved organic nitrogen in estuarine sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43, 1796–1813.
- Burdige, D.J., Berelson, W.M., Coale, K.H., McManus, J., Johnson, K.S., 1999. Fluxes of dissolved organic carbon from California continental margin sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 63, 1507–1515.
- Burdige, D.J., Gardner, K.G., Skoog, A., 2000. Dissolved and particulate carbohydrates in contrasting marine sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 64, 1029–1041.
- Burdige, D.J., Kline, S.W., Chen, W., 2004. Fluorescent dissolved organic matter in marine sediment pore waters. Mar. Chem. 89, 289–311.
- Cai, W.-J., Reimers, C.E., Shaw, T.J., 1995. Microelectrode studies of organic carbon degradation and calcite dissolution at a California continental rise site. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 59, 497–511.
- Canfield, D., Thamdrup, B., Kristensen, E., 2005. Aquatic Geomicrobiology. Elsevier, San Diego.
- Caughey, M. E., 1982. A Study of the Dissolved Organic Matter in the Pore Waters of Carbonate-Rich Sediment Cores from Florida Bay (M.S. thesis). Univ. of Texas at Dallas.
- Chen, R.F., Bada, J.L., 1989. Seawater and porewater fluorescence in the Santa Barbara Basin. Geophys. Res. Lett. 16, 687–690.
- Chen, R.F., Bada, J.L., 1994. The fluorescence of dissolved organic matter in porewaters of marine sediments. Mar. Chem. 45, 31–42.
- Chen, R.F., Bada, J.L., Suzuki, Y., 1993. The relationship between dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and fluorescence in anoxic marine porewaters: implications for estimating benthic DOC fluxes. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 57, 2149–2153.
- Chin, Y.-P., Gschwend, P.M., 1991. The abundance, distribution, and configuration of porewater organic colloids in recent sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 55, 1309–1317.
- Chin, Y.-P., Aiken, G., O'Loughlin, E., 1994. Molecular weight, polydispersity, and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. Environ. Sci. Technol. 28, 1853–1858.
- Chin, Y.P., Traina, S.J., Swank, C.R., Backhus, D., 1998. Abundance and properties of dissolved organic matter in pore waters of a freshwater wetland. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43, 1287–1296.
- Chipman, L., Podgorski, D., Green, S., Kostka, J., Cooper, W., Huettel, M., 2010. Decomposition of plankton-derived dissolved organic matter in permeable coastal sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 857.

- Chipman, L., Huettel, M., Laschet, M., 2012. Effect of benthic-pelagic coupling on dissolved organic carbon concentrations in permeable sediments and water column in the northeastern Gulf of Mexico. Cont. Shelf Res. 45, 116–125.
- Christensen, D., Blackburn, T.H., 1980. Turnover of tracer (¹⁴C, ³H labelled) alanine in inshore marine sediments. Mar. Biol. 58, 97–103.
- Christensen, D., Blackburn, T.H., 1982. Turnover of ¹⁴C-labelled acetate in marine sediments. Mar. Biol. 71, 113–119.
- Coble, P.G., 1996. Characterization of marine and terrestrial DOM in seawater using excitation-emission matrix spectrospcopy. Mar. Chem. 51, 325–346.
- Coble, P.G., 2007. Marine optical biogeochemistry: the chemistry of ocean color. Chem. Rev. 107, 402–418.
- Collins, M.J., Bishop, A.N., Farrimond, P., 1995. Sorption by mineral surfaces: rebirth of the classical condensation pathway for kerogen formation? Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 59, 2387–2391.
- Cook, P.L.M., Revill, A.T., Butler, E.C.V., Eyre, B.D., 2004. Carbon and nitrogen cycling on intertidal mudflats of a temperate Australian estuary. II. Nitrogen cycling. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 280, 39–54.
- Cowie, G.L., Hedges, J.I., 1992. Sources and reactivities of amino acids in a coastal marine environment. Limnol. Oceanogr. 37, 703–724.
- Cowie, G.L., Hedges, J.I., 1994. Biochemical indicators of diagenetic alteration in natural organic matter mixtures. Nature 369, 304–307.
- Cowie, G.L., Hedges, J.I., Calvert, S.E., 1992. Sources and reactivity of amino acids, neutral sugars, and lignin in an intermittently anoxic marine environment. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 56, 1963–1978.
- Dale, A., Regnier, P., Van Cappellen, P., 2006. Bioenergetic controls on anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM) in coastal marine sediments: a theoretical analysis. Am. J. Sci. 306, 246–294.
- Dale, A., Regnier, P., Knab, N., Jorgensen, B., Van Cappellen, P., 2008. Anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM) in marine sediments from the Skagerrak (Denmark): II. Reaction-transport modeling. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 72, 2880–2894.
- Del Vecchio, R., Blough, N.V., 2004. On the origin of the opitical properties of humic substances. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 3885–3891.
- Derenne, S., Knicker, H., Largeau, C., Hatcher, P., 1998. Timing and mechanisms of changes in nitrogen functionality during biomass fossilization. In: Stankiewicz, B.A., van Bergen, P.F. (Eds.), Nitrogen-Containing Macromolecules in the Bio- and Geosphere. American Chemical Society, pp.243–253, Washington.
- D'Hondt, S.L., Jørgensen, B.B., Miller, D.J., 2003. Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Initial Reports, Leg 201. Ocean Drilling Program, TX.

- Ding, X., Henrichs, S.M., 2002. Adsorption and desorption of proteins and polyamino acids by clay minerals and marine sediments. Mar. Chem. 77, 225–237.
- Dunne, J.P., Sarmiento, J.L., Gnanadesikan, A., 2007. A synthesis of global particle export from the surface ocean and cycling through the ocean interior and on the seafloor. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 21, GB4006.
- Egeberg, P.K., Barth, T., 1998. Contribution of dissolved organic species to the carbon and energy budgets of hydrate bearing deep sea sediments (Ocean Drilling Program Site 997 Blake Ridge). Chem. Geol. 149, 25–35.
- Egeberg, P.K., Dickens, G.R., 1999. Thermodynamic and pore water halogen constraints on gas hydrate accumulation at ODP site 997 (Blake Ridge). Chem. Geol. 153, 53–79.
- Emery, K.O., 1968. Relict sediments on continental shelves of the world. AAPG Bull. 52, 445–464.
- Fenchel, T., King, G.M., Blackburn, T.H., 1998. Bacterial Biogeochemistry: The Ecophysiology of Mineral Cycling. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Ferguson, A.J., Eyre, B.D., Gay, J.M., 2004. Benthic nutrient fluxes in euphotic sediments along shallow sub-tropical estuaries, northern New South Wales, Australia. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 37, 219–235.
- Finke, N., Vandieken, V., Jørgensen, B.B., 2007. Acetate, lactate, propionate, and isobutyrate as electron donors for iron and sulfate reduction in Arctic marine sediments, Svalbard. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59, 10–22.
- Fisher, A.T., Urabe, T., Klaus, A., 2005. Proceedings of the IODP, 301. Integrated Ocean Drilling Program Management International, Inc., College Station, TX.
- Gruber, N., 2008. The marine nitrogen cycle: overview and challenges. In: Capone, D.G., Bronk, D.A., Mulholland, M.R., Carpenter, E.J. (Eds.), Nitrogen in the Marine Environment, second ed. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Guo, L., Santschi, P.H., 2000. Sedimentary sources of old high molecular weight dissolved organic carbon from the ocean margin nepheloid layer. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 64, 600–650.
- Haberstroh, P.R., Karl, D.M., 1989. Dissolved free amino acids in hydrothermal vent habitiats of the Guaymas Basin. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 53, 2937–2945.
- Hall, P.O.J., Brunnegärd, J., Hulthe, G., Martin, W.R., Stahl, H., Tengberg, A., 2007. Dissolved organic matter in abyssal sediments: core recovery artifacts. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52, 19–31.
- Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., Repeta, D.J., Schlitzer, R., 2009. Dissolved organic matter in the ocean: a controversy stimulates new insights. Oceanography 22, 202–211.
- Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., Schlitzer, R., 2012. Net removal of major marine dissolved organic carbon fractions in the subsurface ocean. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 26, GB1016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2011GB004069.

572

REFERENCES

- Hansen, L.S., Blackburn, T.H., 1995. Amino acid degradation by sulfate-reducing bacteria: evaluation of four methods. Limnol. Oceanogr. 40, 502–510.
- Hansen, L., Holmer, M., Blackburn, T., 1993. Mineralization of organic nitrogen and carbon (fish food) added to anoxic sediment microcosms: role of sulphate reduction. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 102, 199–204.
- Hedges, J.I., 1988. Polymerization of humic substances in natural environments. In: Frimmel, F.C., Christman, R.C. (Eds.), Humic Substances and Their Role in the Environment. J. Wiley and Sons, Chichester.
- Hedges, J.I., 1992. Global biogeochemical cycles: progress and problems. Mar. Chem. 39, 67–93.
- Hedges, J.I., Keil, R.G., 1995. Sedimentary organic matter preservation: an assessment and speculative synthesis. Mar. Chem. 49, 81–115.
- Hedges, J.I., Oades, J.M., 1997. Comparative organic geochemistries of soils and marine sediments. Org. Geochem. 27, 319–361.
- Hee, C.A., Pease, T.K., Alperin, M.J., Martens, C.S., 2001. Dissolved organic carbon production and consumption in anoxic marine sediments: a pulsed-tracer experiment. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46, 1908–1920.
- Heggie, D., Maris, C., Hudson, A., Dymond, J., Beach, R., Cullen, J., 1987. Organic carbon oxidation and preservation in NW Atlantic continental margin sediments. In: Weaver, P.P.E., Thomson, J. (Eds.), Geology and Geochemistry of Abyssal Plains. Blackwell Sci. Publ., London.
- Henrichs, S.M., 1992. Early diagenesis of organic matter in marine sediments: progress and perplexity. Mar. Chem. 39, 119–149.
- Henrichs, S.M., 1993. Early diagenesis of organic matter: the dynamics (rates) of cycling of organic compounds. In: Engel, M., Macko, S. (Eds.), Organic Geochemistry. Plenum Press, New York.
- Henrichs, S.M., 1995. Sedimentary organic matter preservation: an assessment and speculative synthesis—a comment. Mar. Chem. 49, 127–136.
- Henrichs, S.M., Cuhel, R., 1985. Occurrence of
 ß-aminoglutaric acid in marine bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 50, 543–545.
- Henrichs, S.M., Doyle, A.P., 1986. Decomposition of 14C-labelled organic substrates in marine sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 31, 765–778.
- Henrichs, S.M., Farrington, J.W., 1979. Amino acids in interstitial waters of marine sediments. Nature 279, 319–322.
- Henrichs, S.M., Farrington, J.W., 1980. Amino acids in interstitial waters of marine sediments: a comparison of results from varied sedimentary environments. In: Douglass, A.G., Maxwell, J.R. (Eds.), Advances in Organic Geochemistry. Pergamon Press, Oxford.
- Henrichs, S.M., Farrington, J.W., 1987. Early diagenesis of amino acids and organic matter in two coastal marine sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 51, 1–15.

- Henrichs, S.M., Sugai, S.F., 1993. Adsorption of amino acids and glucose by sediments of Resurrection Bay, Alaska, USA: functional group effects. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 57, 823–835.
- Henrichs, S.M., Farrington, J.W., Lee, C., 1984. Peru upwelling region sediments near 15°S. 2. Dissolved free and total hydrolyzable amino acids. Limnol. Oceanogr. 29, 20–34.
- Hertkorn, N., Benner, R., Frommberger, M., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Witt, M., Kaiser, K., et al., 2006. Characterization of a major refractory component of marine dissolved organic matter. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 70, 2990–3010.
- Heuer, V.B., Pohlman, J.W., Torres, M.E., Elvert, M., Hinrichs, K.-U., 2009. The stable carbon isotope biogeochemistry of acetate and other dissolved carbon species in deep subseafloor sediments at the northern Cascadia Margin. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 73, 3323–3336.
- Hines, M.E., Banta, G.T., Giblin, A.E., Hobbie, J.E., Tugel, J.B., 1994. Acetate concentrations and oxidation in salt marsh sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 39, 140–148.
- Hoehler, T.M., Jørgensen, B.B., 2013. Microbial life under extreme energy limitation. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11, 83–94.
- Hoehler, T.M., Alperin, M.J., Albert, D.B., Martens, C.S., 1998. Thermodynamic control on hydrogen concentrations in anoxic sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 62, 1745–1756.
- Holcombe, B.L., Keil, R., Devol, A.H., 2001. Determination of pore-water dissolved organic carbon fluxes from Mexican margin sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46, 298–308.
- Ijiri, A., Harada, N., Hirota, A., Tsunogai, U., Ogawa, N.O., Itaki, T., et al., 2012. Biogeochemical processes involving acetate in sub-seafloor sediments from the Bering Sea shelf break. Org. Geochem. 48, 47–55.
- Jacobsen, M.E., Mackin, J.E., Capone, D.G., 1987. Ammonium production in sediments inhibited with molybdate: implications for the sources of ammonium in anoxic marine sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 53, 2435–2439.
- Jahnke, R.A., 1990. Early diagenesis and recycling of biogenic debris at the seafloor, Santa Monica Basin, California. J. Mar. Res. 48, 413–436.
- Jensen, S.I., Kühl, M., Glud, R.N., Jørgensen, L.B., Priemé, A., 2005. Oxic microzones and radial oxygen loss from roots of *Zostera marina*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 293, 49–58.
- Johnson, L., Komada, T., 2011. Determination of radiocarbon in marine sediment porewater dissolved organic carbon by thermal sulfate reduction. Limnol. Oceanogr.: Methods 9, 485–498.
- Jørgensen, N.O.G., Lindroth, P., Mopper, K.H., 1981. Extraction and distribution of free amino acids and ammonium in sediment interstitial waters from the Limfjord, Denmark. Oceanol. Acta 4, 465–474.
- Kawahata, H., Ishizuka, T., 2000. Amino acids in interstitial waters from ODP Sites 689 and 690 on the Maud Rise, Antarctic Ocean. Geochem. J. 34, 247–261.

- Kemp, P.F., 1990. The fate of benthic bacterial production. Rev. Aquat. Sci. 2, 109–124.
- Kim, T.-H., Waska, H., Kwon, E., Suryaputra, I.G.N., Kim, G., 2012. Production, degradation, and flux of dissolved organic matter in the subterranean estuary of a large tidal flat. Mar. Chem. 142-144, 1–10.
- Knab, N.J., Cragg, B.A., Borowski, C., Parkes, R.J., Pancost, R., Jørgensen, B.B., 2008. Anaerobic oxidation of methane (AOM) in marine sediments from the Skagerrak (Denmark): I. Geochemical and microbiological analyses. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 72, 2868–2879.
- Koch, B.P., Witt, M., Engbrodt, R., Dittmar, T., Kattner, G., 2005. Molecular formulae of marine and terrigenous dissolved organic matter detected by electrospray ionization Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 69, 3299–3308.
- Kohnen, M.E.L., Schouten, S., Damste, J.S.S., de Leeuw, J.W., Merrit, D., Hayes, J.M., 1992. The combined application of organic sulphur and isotope geochemistry to assess multiple sources of palaeobiochemicals with identical carbon skeletons. Org. Geochem. 19, 403–419.
- Komada, T., Schofield, O.M.E., Reimers, C.E., 2002. Fluorescence characteristics of organic matter released from coastal sediments during resuspension. Mar. Chem. 79, 81–97.
- Komada, T., Reimers, C.E., Luther III, G.W., Burdige, D.J., 2004. Factors affecting dissolved organic matter dynamics in mixed-redox to anoxic coastal sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 68, 4099–4111.
- Komada, T., Polly, J.A., Johnson, L., 2012. Transformations of carbon in anoxic marine sediments: implications from ¹⁴C and ¹³C signatures. Limnol. Oceanogr. 57, 567–581.
- Komada, T., Burdige, D.J., Crispo, S.M., Druffel, E.R.M., Griffin, S., Johnson, L., et al., 2013. Dissolved organic carbon dynamics in anaerobic sediments of the Santa Monica Basin. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 110, 253–273.
- Krom, M.D., Sholkovitz, E.R., 1977. Nature and reactions of dissolved organic matter in the interstitial waters of marine sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 41, 1565–1573.
- Krom, M. D., Westrich, J. T., 1981. Dissolved organic matter in the pore waters of recent marine sediments; a review. Biogéochemie de la matière organique à l'interface eau-sédiment marin. Colloques Internationaux du C.N.R.S.
- Kujawinski, E.B., Del Vecchio, R., Blough, N.V., Klein, G.C., Marshall, A.G., 2004. Probing molecular-level transformations of dissolved organic matter: insights on photochemical degradation and protozoan modification of DOM from electrospray ionization Fourier transform-ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry. Limnol. Oceanogr. 92, 23–37.
- Lahajnar, N., Rixen, T., Gate-Haake, B., Schafer, P., Ittekkot, V., 2005. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) fluxes of deepsea sediments from the Arabian Sea and NE Atltantic. Deep-Sea Res. Pt. II, 1947–1964.

- Lalonde, K., Mucci, A., Ouellet, A., Gélinas, Y., 2012. Preservation of organic matter in sediments promoted by iron. Nature 483, 198–200.
- Landén, A., Hall, P.O.J., 1998. Seasonal variation of dissolved and adsorbed amino acids and ammonium in a nearshore marine sediment. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 170, 67–84.
- Landén, A., Hall, P.O.J., 2000. Benthic fluxes and pore water distributions of dissolved free amino acids in the open Skagerrak. Mar. Chem. 71, 53–68.
- Landén-Hillmeyr, A., 1998. Nitrogen Cycling in Continental Margin Sediments with Emphasis on Dissolved Organic Nitrogen and Amino Acids (Ph.D. dissertation). Göteborg University.
- Larmagnat, S., Neuweiler, F., 2011. Exploring a link between Atlantic coral mounds and Phanerozoic carbonate mudmounds: insights from pore water fluorescent dissolved organic matter (FDOM), Pen Duick mounds, offshore Morocco. Mar. Geol. 282, 149–159.
- Lee, C., 1992. Controls on organic carbon preservation: the use of stratified water bodies to compare intrinsic rates of decompositin in oxic and anoxic systems. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 56, 3233–3335.
- Liu, Z., Lee, C., 2006. Drying effects on sorption capacity of coastal sediment: the importance of architecture and polarity of organic matter. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 70, 3313–3324.
- Liu, Z., Lee, C., 2007. The role of organic matter in the sorption capacity of marine sediments. Mar. Chem. 105, 240–257.
- Loh, A.N., Bauer, J.E., Druffel, E.R., 2004. Variable ageing and storage of dissolved organic components in the open ocean. Nature 430, 877–881.
- Lomstein, B.A., Blackburn, T.H., Henricksen, K., 1989. Aspects of nitrogen and carbon cycling inthe northern Bering Shelf sediments. I. The significance of urea turnover in the mineralization of NH₄⁺. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 57, 237–247.
- Lomstein, B.A., Jensen, A.-G.U., Hansen, J.W., Andreasen, J.B., Hansen, L.S., Berntsen, J., et al., 1998. Budgets of sediment nitrogen and carbon cycling in the shallow water of Knebel Vig, Denmark. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 14, 69–80.
- Lomstein, B.A., Langerhuus, A.T., D'Hondt,, S., Jørgensen, B.B., Spivack, A.J., 2012. Endospore abundance, microbial growth and necromass turnover in deep sub-seafloor sediment. Nature 484, 101–104.
- Lovley, D.R., Goodwin, S., 1988. Hydrogen concentrations as an indicator of the predominant terminal electronaccepting reactions in aquatic sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 52, 2993–3003.
- Lovley, D.R., Phillips, E.J.P., 1987. Competitive mechanisms for inhibition of sulfate reduction and methane production in the zone of ferric iron reduction in sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 53, 2636–2641.

574

REFERENCES

- Lübben, A., Dellwig, O., Koch, S., Beck, M., Badewien, T.H., Fischer, S., et al., 2009. Distributions and characteristics of dissolved organic matter in temperate coastal waters (Southern North Sea). Ocean Dynam. 59, 263–275.
- Ludwig, W., Probst, J.-L., 1996. Predicting the input of organic carbon by continental erosion. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 10, 23–41.
- Lyons, W.B., Gaudette, H.E., Hewitt, A.D., 1979. Dissolved organic matter in pore waters of carbonate sediments from Bermuda. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 43, 433–437.
- Maher, D.T., Eyre, B.D., 2010. Benthic fluxes of dissolved organic carbon in three temperate Australian estuaries: implications for global estimates of benthic DOC fluxes. Biogeosciences 115, G04039.
- Maher, D., Eyre, B.D., 2011. Insights into estuarine benthic dissolved organic carbon (DOC) dynamics using δ¹³C-DOC values, phospholipid fatty acids and dissolved organic nutrient fluxes. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 75, 1889–1902.
- Marchand, C., Albéric, P., Lallier-Vergès, E., Baltzer, F., 2006. Distribution and characteristics of dissolved organic matter in mangrove sediment pore waters along the coastline of French Guiana. Biogeochemistry 81, 59–75.
- Martens, C.S., Haddad, R.I., Chanton, J.P., 1992. Organic matter accumulation, remineralization and burial in an anoxic marine sediment. In: Whelan, J.K., Farrington, J.W. (Eds.), Productivity, Accumulation, and Preservation of Organic Matter in Recent and Ancient Sediments. Columbia Univ. Press, New York, pp. 82–98.
- Martin, W.R., McCorkle, D.C., 1994. Dissolved organic carbon in continental margin sediments: an assessment of the relative rates of cabon oxidation to CO₂ and net DOC production. Eos Trans. Am. Geophys. Union 75, 323.
- Marvin-DiPasquale, M.C., Capone, D.G., 1998. Benthic sulfate reduction along the Chesapeake Bay central channel.I. Spatial trends and controls. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 168, 213–228.
- Mayer, L.M., Rice, D.L., 1992. Early diagenesis of proteins: a seasonal study. Limnol. Oceanogr. 37, 280–295.
- McCarthy, M.D., Beaupre, S.R., Walker, B.D., Voparil, I., Guilderson, T.P., Druffel, E.R.M., 2011. Chemosynthetic origin of ¹⁴C-depleted dissolved organic matter in a ridge-flank hydrothermal system. Nat. Geosci. 4, 32–36.
- McKee, G.A., 2011. The Nature, Origin and Preservation of Amide Organic Nitrogen in Organic Matter (Ph.D. dissertation). Old Dominion Univ., USA.
- McKee, G.A., Hatcher, P.G., 2010. Alkyl amides in two organicrich anoxic sediments: a possible new abiotic route for N sequestration. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 74, 6436–6450.
- McManus, J., Berelson, W.M., Coale, K., Johnson, K., Kilgore, T.E., 1997. Phosphorus regeneration in continental margin sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 61, 2891–2907.
- McNichol, A.P., Aluwihare, L.I., 2007. The power of radiocarbon in biogeochemical studies of the marine carbon

cycle: insights from studies of dissolved and particulate organic carbon (DOC and POC). Chem. Rev. 107, 443.

- Megonigal, J.P., Hines, M.E., Visscher, P.T., 2003. 8.08— Anaerobic metabolism: linkages to trace gases and aerobic processes. In: Holland, H.D., Turekian, K.K. (Eds.), Treatise on Geochemistry. Pergamon, Oxford.
- Michelson, A.R., Jacobsen, M.E., Scranton, M.I., Mackin, J.E., 1989. Modeling the distribution of acetate in anoxic estuarine sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 34, 747–757.
- Middelburg, J.J., 1989. A simple rate model for organic matter decomposition in marine sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 53, 1577–1581.
- Moore, E.K., Nunn, B.L., Goodlett, D.R., Harvey, H.R., 2012. Identifying and tracking proteins through the marine water column: insights into the inputs and preservation mechanisms of protein in sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 83, 324–359.
- Mulholland, M.R., Lomas, M.W., 2008. Nitrogen uptake and assimilation. In: Capone, D.G., Bronk, D.A., Mulholland, M.R., Carpenter, E.J. (Eds.), Nitrogen in the Marine Environment, Second ed. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Nissenbaum, A., Baedecker, M.J., Kaplan, I.R., 1972. Studies on dissolved organic matter from interstitial waters of a reducing marine fjord. In: von Gaerter, H.R., Wehner, H. (Eds.), Advances in Organic Geochemistry 1971. Pergamon Press, Oxford.
- Novelli, P.C., Michelson, A.R., Scranton, M.I., Banta, G.T., Hobbie, J.E., Howarth, R.W., 1988. Hydrogen and acetate cycling in two sulfate-reducing sediments: Buzzards Bay and Town Cove, Mass. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 52, 2477–2486.
- Ogasawara, R., Ishiwatari, R., Shimoyama, A., 2001. Detection of water extractable dipeptides and their characteristics in recent sediments of Tokyo Bay. Geochem. J. 35, 439–450.
- Orem, W.H., Hatcher, P.G., 1987. Solid-state ¹³C NMR studies of dissolved organic matter in pore waters from different depositional environments. Org. Geochem. 11, 73–82.
- Orem, W.E., Hatcher, P.G., Spiker, E.C., Szeverenyi, N.M., Machel, G.E., 1986. Dissolved organic matter in anoxic pore waters from Mangrove Lake, Bermuda. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 50, 609–618.
- Otero, M., Mendonça, A., Válega, M., Santos, E.B.H., Pereira, E., Esteves, V.I., et al., 2007. Fluorescence and DOC contents of estuarine pore waters from colonized and non-colonized sediments: effects of sampling preservation. Chemosphere 67, 211–220.
- Pantoja, S., Lee, C., 1999. Peptide decomposition by extracellular hydrolysis in coastal seawater and salt marsh sediment. Mar. Chem. 63, 273–291.
- Papadimitriou, S., Kennedy, H., Bentaleb, I., Thomas, D.N., 2002. Dissolved organic carbon in sediments from the eastern North Atlantic. Mar. Chem. 79, 37–47.
- Parkes, R.J., Gibson, G.R., Mueller-Harvey, I., Buckingham, W.J., Herbert, R.A., 1989. Determination of the substrates

for sulfate-reducing bacteria within marine and estuarine sediments with different rates of sulfate reduction. J. Gen. Microbiol. 135, 175–187.

- Parlanti, E., Wörz, K., Geoffrey, L., Lamotte, M., 2000. Dissolved organic matter fluorescence spectroscopy as a tool to estimate biological activity in a coastal zone submitted to anthropogenic inputs. Org. Geochem. 31, 1765–1781.
- Penning, H., Conrad, R., 2006. Carbon isotope effects associated with mixed-acid fermentation of saccharides by *Clostridium papyrosolvens*. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 70, 2283–2297.
- Piccolo, A., 2001. The supramolecular structure of humic substances. Soil Sci. 166, 810–832.
- Pohlman, J.W., Bauer, J.E., Waite, W.F., Osburn, C.L., Chapman, N.R., 2010. Methane hydrate-bearing seeps as a source of aged dissolved organic carbon to the oceans. Nat. Geosci. 4, 37–41.
- Ragsdale, S.W., Pierce, E., 2008. Acetogenesis and the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway of CO₂ fixation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1784, 1873–1898.
- Raymond, P.A., Bauer, J.E., 2001a. Riverine export of aged terrestrial organic matter to the North Atlantic Ocean. Nature 409, 497–500.
- Raymond, P.A., Bauer, J.E., 2001b. Use of ¹⁴C and ¹³C natural abundances for evaluating riverine, estuarine, and coastal DOC and POC sources and cycling: a review and synthesis. Org. Geochem. 32, 469–485.
- Repeta, D.J., Aluwihare, L.I., 2006. Radiocarbon analysis of neutral sugars in high-molecular-weight dissolved organic carbon: implications for organic carbon cycling. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51, 1045–1053.
- Repeta, D.J., Quan, T.M., Aluwihare, L.I., Accardi, A., 2002. Chemical characterization of high molecular weight dissolved organic matter in fresh and marine waters. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 66, 955–962.
- Robador, A., Brüchert, V., Steen, A.D., Arnosti, C., 2010. Temperature induced decoupling of enzymatic hydrolysis and carbon remineralization in long-term incubations of Arctic and temperate sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 74, 2316–2326.
- Rosenfeld, J.K., 1979. Amino acid diagenesis and adsorption in nearshore anoxic marine sediments. Limnol. Oceanogr. 24, 1014–1021.
- Roth, L.C., Harvey, H.R., 2006. Intact protein modification and degradation in estuarine environments. Mar. Chem. 102, 33–45.
- Rowe, G.T., Deming, J.W., 2011. An alternative view of the role of heterotrophic microbes in the cycling of organic matter in deep-sea sediments. Mar. Biol. Res. 7, 629–636.
- Sansone, F.J., Martens, C.S., 1982. Volatile fatty acid cycling in organic-rich marine sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 45, 101–121.

- Sansone, F.J., Andrews, C.A., Okamoto, M.Y., 1987. Adsorption of short-chain organic acids onto nearshore sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 51, 1889–1896.
- Santschi, P.H., Guo, L., Baskaran, M., Trumbore, S., Southon, J., Bianchi, T.S., et al., 1995. Isotopic evidence for the contemporary origin of high-molecular-weight organic matter in oceanic environments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 59, 625–631.
- Schmidt, F., Elvert, M., Koch, B.P., Witt, M., Hinrichs, K.U., 2009. Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter in pore water of continental shelf sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 73, 3337–3358.
- Schmidt, F., Koch, B.P., Elvert, M., Schmidt, G., Witt, M., Hinrichs, K.U., 2011. Diagenetic transformation of dissolved organic nitrogen compounds under contrasting sedimentary redox conditions in the Black Sea. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 5223–5229.
- Seretti, A., Nannicini, L., Del Vecchio, R., Giordani, P., Balboni, V., Miserocchi, S., 1997. Optical properties of sediment pore waters of the Adriatic Sea. Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 61, 195–209.
- Shank, G.C., Skrabal, S.A., Whitehead, R.F., Kieber, R.J., 2004. Fluxes of strong Cu-complexing ligands from sediments of an organic-rich estuary. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 60, 349–358.
- Shaw, T.J., Gieskes, J.M., Jahnke, R.A., 1990. Early diagenesis in differing depositional environments: the response of transition metals in pore waters. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 54, 1233–1246.
- Sierra, M.M.D., Donard, O.F.X., Etcheber, H., Soriano-Sierra, E.J., Ewald, M., 2001. Fluorescence and DOC contents of pore waters from coastal and deep-sea sediments in the Gulf of Biscay. Org. Geochem. 32, 1319–1328.
- Skoog, A.C., Arias-Esquivel, V.A., 2009. The effect of induced anoxia and reoxygenation on benthic fluxes of organic carbon, phosphate, iron, and manganese. Sci. Total Environ. 407, 6085–6092.
- Skoog, A., Hall, P.O.J., Hukth, S., Paxéus, N., Rutgers van der Loef, M., 1996. Early diagenetic production and sedimentwater exchange of fluorescent dissolved organic matter in the coastal environment. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 60, 3619–3629.
- Sleighter, R.L., Hatcher, P.G., 2007. The application of electrospray ionization coupled to ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry for the molecular characterization of natural organic matter. J. Mass Spectrosc. 42, 559–574.
- Smith, D.C., Jørgensen, B.B., D'Hondt, S.L., Miller, D.J., 2005. Data report: dissolved organic carbon in interstitial waters, equatorial Pacific and Peru margin. In: Proceedings of the ODP, Scientific Results Volume 201. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX.
- Sørensen, J., Christensen, D., Jørgensen, B.B., 1981. Volatile fatty acids and hydrogen as substrates for sulfate-reducing

576

REFERENCES

bacteria in anaerobic marine sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 42, 5–11.

- Ståhl, H., Hall, P.O.J., Tengberg, A., Josefson, A.B., Streftaris, N., Zenetos, A., et al., 2004. Respiration and sequestering of organic carbon in shelf sediments of the oligotrophic northern Aegean Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 269, 33–48.
- Starikova, N.D., 1970. Vertical distribution patterns of dissolved organic carbon in sea water and interstitial solutions. Oceanology 10, 796–807.
- Stumm, W., Morgan, J.J., 1996. Aquatic Chemistry: Chemical Equilibria and Rates in Natural Waters. Wiley-Interscience, New York.
- Suess, E., Müller, P.J., Reimers, C.E., 1980. A closer look at nitrification in pelagic sediments. Geophys. J. Roy. Astron. Soc. 14, 129–137.
- Sugai, S.F., Henrichs, S.M., 1992. Rates of amino acid uptake and remineralization in Resurrection Bay (Alaska) sediments. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 88, 129–141.
- Sundbäck, K., Linares, F., Larson, F., Wulff, A., Engelsen, A., 2004. Benthic nitrogen fluxes along a depth gradient in a microtidal fjord: the role of denitrification and microphytobenthos. Limnol. Oceanogr. 49, 1095–1107.
- Sutton, R., Sposito, G., 2005. Molecular structure in soil humic substances: the new view. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39, 9009–9015.
- Swett, M. P., 2010. Assessment of Benthic Flux of Dissolved Organic Carbon in Estuaries Using the Eddy-Correlation Technique (M.S. thesis). The University of Maine.
- Takii, S., Hanada, S., Hase, Y., Tamaki, H., Uyeno, Y., Sekiguchi, Y., et al., 2008. *Desulfovibrio marinisediminis* sp. nov., a novel sulfate-reducing bacterium isolated from coastal marine sediment via enrichment with Casamino acids. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 58, 2433–2438.
- Tegelaar, E.W., de Leeuw, J.W., Derenne, S., Largeau, C., 1989. A reappraisal of kerogen formation. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 53, 3103–3106.
- Thamdrup, B., 2000. Bacterial manganese and iron reduction in aquatic sediments. Adv. Microbiol. Ecol. 16, 41–83.
- Thauer, R.K., Jungermann, K., Decker, K., 1977. Energy conservation in chemotrophic anaerobic bacteria. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 41, 100.
- Thimsen, C.A., Keil, R.G., 1998. Potential interactions between sedimentary dissolved organic matter and mineral surfaces. Mar. Chem. 62, 65–76.
- Tréhu, A.M., Bohrmann, G., Rack, F.R., Torres, M.E., 2003. Proceedings of the ODP, Initial Reports, 204. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX.
- Tremblay, L.B., Dittmar, T., Marshall, A.G., Cooper, W.J., Cooper, W.T., 2007. Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter in a North Brazilian mangrove porewater and mangrove-fringed estuaries by ultrahigh resolution Fourier transform-ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry and excitation/emission spectroscopy. Mar. Chem. 105, 15–29.

- Tyler, A.C., McGlathery, K.J., Anderson, I.C., 2003. Benthic algae control sediment-water column fluxes of organic and inorganic nitrogen compounds in a temperate lagoon. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48, 2125–2137.
- Valdemarsen, T., Kristensen, E., 2010. Degradation of dissolved organic monomers and short-chain fatty acids in sandy marine sediment by fermentation and sulfate reduction. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 74, 1593–1605.
- Valentine, D.L., Kastner, M., Wardlaw, G.D., Wang, X., Purdy, A., Bartlett, D.H., 2005. Biogeochemical investigations of marine methane seeps, Hydrate Ridge, Oregon. J. Geophys. Res. 110, G02005.
- Wang, X.-C., Lee, C., 1993. Adsorption and desorption of aliphatic amines, amino acids and acetate by clay minerals in marine sediments. Mar. Chem. 44, 1–23.
- Wang, X.-C., Lee, C., 1995. Decomposition of aliphatic amines and amino acids in anoxic salt marsh sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 59, 1787–1797.
- Wefer, G., Berger, W.H., Richter, C., et al., 1998. Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Init. Repts. vol. 175. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX.
- Wellsbury, P., Goodman, K., Barth, T., Cragg, B.A., Barnes, S.P., Parkes, R.J., 1997. Deep marine biosphere fuelled by increasing organic matter availability during burial and heating. Nature 388, 573–576.
- Weston, N.B., Joye, S.B., 2005. Temperature-driven decoupling of key phases of organic matter degradation in marine sediments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 17036–17040.
- Westrich, J.T., Berner, R.A., 1984. The role of sedimentary organic matter in bacterial sulfate reduction: the G model tested. Limnol. Oceanogr. 29, 236–249.
- Williams, P.M., Druffel, E.R.M., 1987. Radiocarbon in dissolved organic matter in the central North Pacific Ocean. Nature 330, 246–248.
- Wilson, D.S., Teagle, D.A.H., Acton, G.D., 2003. Proceedings of the ODP, Initial Reports, 206. Ocean Driling Program, College Station, TX.
- Worsfold, P.J., Monbet, P., Tappin, A.D., Fitzsimons, M.F., Stiles, D.A., McKelvie, I.D., 2008. Characterisation and quantification of organic phosphorus and organic nitrogen components in aquatic systems: a review. Anal. Chim. Acta 624, 37–58.
- Yao, H., Conrad, R., 2000. Electron balance during steadystate production of CH₄ and CO₂ in anoxic rice soil. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 51, 369–378.
- Ziegelgruber, K.L., Zeng, T., Arnold, W.A., Chin, Y.-P., 2013. Sources and composition of sediment pore-water dissolved organic matter in prairie pothole lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 58, 1136–1146.
- Zonneveld, K.A.F., Versteegh, G.J.M., Kasten, S., Eglinton, T.I., Emeis, K.C., Huguet, C., et al., 2010. Selective preservation of organic matter in marine environments; processes and impact on the sedimentary record. Biogeosciences 7, 483–511.